
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU 

 
 

 
 

Licensing Committee 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Members of the Licensing Committee of Gravesham Borough Council are summoned to attend 
a meeting to be held at the Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend, Kent on Thursday, 26 
November 2015 at 7.30 pm when the business specified in the following agenda is proposed to 
be transacted. 
 
 

 
S Kilkie 
Assistant Director (Communities) 
 
 

Agenda 
 

Part A 
Items likely to be considered in Public 

1. Apologies   

2. Minutes  (Pages 3 - 4) 

3. Declarations of Interest   

4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the agenda should be 
considered in private or the items in Part B in public.  

 

5. Trading Standards as a Responsible Authority under the Licensing Act 
2003 - Role and Current Update  

PRESENTATION  

6. Review of Statement of Licensing Policy under the Gambling  Act 2005  (Pages 5 - 56) 

7. Late Night Refreshment - Deregulation Options  (Pages 57 - 66) 

8. Any Other Business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency.  

 

9. Exclusion of the Public   

 To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 

 

Public Document Pack



included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.  
 

Part B 

 
Items likely to be considered in private 

 
 

 
 
 
Members 
 
Cllr Harold Craske (Chair) 
Cllr Lesley Boycott (Vice-Chair) 
 
Councillors: Gurjit Kaur Bains 

Gurdip Ram Bungar 
John Caller 
Brian Francis 
Greta Goatley 
Karen Hurdle 
Sara Langdale 
John Loughlin 
Jordan Meade 
Leslie Pearton 
Peter Scollard 
Steve Thompson 
Valerie Ashenden 
 

 
Substitutes: To be notified 
 
 
 
 



 

1 

Licensing Committee 
 

Monday, 28 September 2015 7.30 pm 
 
 
Present: 
 
Cllr Harold Craske (Chair) 
Cllr Lesley  Boycott (Vice-Chair) 
 
Cllrs: Gurjit Kaur Bains 

John Caller 
Brian Francis 
Greta Goatley 
Karen Hurdle 
Sara Langdale 
John Loughlin 
Leslie Pearton 
Peter Scollard 
Steve Thompson 
 

 
Sarah Kilkie Assistant Director (Communities) 
Mark Lees Environmental Health Technician 
Sue Hill Committee & Elections Manager 
 
 
26. Order of Agenda  
 
The Chair stated that it was his intention to deal with item 2 (Minutes of previous meeting) 
and item 8 (the two supplementary sets of Minutes) together. 

27. Minutes  
 
The Minutes of the Licensing Committee meeting held on 4 March 2015 were signed by the 
Chair. 
 
The two sets of Minutes from the Licensing Panels held on 19 March 2015 and 8 July 2015 – 
circulated as urgent items - were noted. 

28. Declarations of Interest  
 
The Chair declared a personal non-prejudicial interest - his son had been appointed as 
Operations Manager for a national firm of Bookmakers. 

29. Trading Standards as a Responsible Authority under Licensing Act 2003 
 - Role and Current Update  
 
The Committee was advised that despite their best efforts the Trading Standards Authority 
were unable to attend the meeting to make their presentation.  It was hoped they would be 
able to attend a future meeting. 

Agenda Item 2Page 3



Licensing Committee 28.09.2015 

2 

30. Review of Statement of Licensing Policy under Gambling Act 2005  
 
Under the Gambling Act 2005, the Council as a Licensing Authority had to prepare and 
publish its Statement of Licensing Policy every three years. 
 
The draft of the new policy, appended to the report, contained two substantive changes.   
These were:- 
   

• the option for the inclusion of a Local Area Profile (a way of describing a process of 
gathering and presenting information about a locality and any particular areas of 
concern); 

• allowance for an operator to be required to assess local risk, in terms of 
understanding the local environment and reflecting that awareness in their 
procedures and policies should mitigate any local risks to the licensing objective 
posed by the provision of gambling facilities at each premise.  Operators would be 
required to supply the risk assessment to the local licensing authority when applying 
for a new premises licence; a variation of an existing premises licence or, upon 
request; 

The new Policy would be the subject of a comprehensive consultation exercise that would 
include Councillors, Parish Councils, all responsible authorities, various groups and 
organisations as shown in Section 4 of the report. 
 
Members noted that the Council was also at the point in the three year cycle of having to 
determine its stance to Section 166 of the Gambling Act 2005 relating to the issue of casino 
licences within its boundaries.  Gravesham had not actually applied for such a licence and at 
present there were no opportunities to apply for one. 
 

Resolved that the review of the Council’s Statement of Licensing Policy go ahead as 
outlined in the report with the outcome being reported to Licensing Committee prior 
to submission to full Council. 

 
31. Street Collections and House to House Collections  
 
As part of the briefings being given to all members about Licensing – the Assistant Director 
(Communities) and the Licensing Manager – gave a presentation outlining the requirements 
of the various Licensing Acts including applications for Street Collection Permits, House to 
House collection Licences and Lotteries. 
 
Members requested clarification in relation to a few matters including the difference between 
a Peddlar’s Licence and those obtained by charities for Street Collections. 
 
Members thanked officers for the presentation. 
 
 Close of meeting  
 
The meeting ended at 8.20pm 
 
 

Page 4



 

Classification: Public      
Key Decision: No      

Gravesham Borough Council 

Report to: Licensing Committee 

Date: 26 November 2015 

Reporting officer: Assistant Director (Communities)  

Subject: Review of Statement of Licensing Policy under the Gambling 
Act 2005      

Purpose and summary of report:  

To feedback to Members on the responses received during the public consultation on the 
draft review of the Gravesham Borough Council Statement of Licensing Policy under the 
Gambling Act 2005. 

Recommendations: 

That Members endorse the recommendations as shown at Appendix 3 and for these to be 
incorporated in the Statement of Licensing Policy to be put before the Council for approval on 
8 December 2015. 
 
1. Background 

1.1 Licensing authorities under the Gambling Act 2005 are required to adopt and 
publish a Statement of Licensing Policy.  Members will be aware that such a 
policy was approved by Council on 4 December 2012 and published on 3 January 
2013.  At this time Council also renewed a ‘no casinos’ resolution as allowed 
under Section 166 of the Gambling Act 2005. 

1.2 Section 349 of the Gambling Act 2005 requires a licensing authority to review and 
publish a further policy every three years.  Such a policy must be published before 
the authority carried out any function in respect of individual applications made 
under the terms of the 2005 Act.  The Gambling Policy is required to comply with 
extensive national guidance, and any departures from it must be supported by 
evidence justifying a different policy approach. 

1.3 The existing Gambling Policy will expire on 2 January 2016. A new policy will be 
required to be adopted by full Council on 8 December 2015 and published for the 
period 3 January 2016 to 2 January 2019.  Council will also need to decide 
whether to ratify the ‘no casinos’ resolution for a further three years. 

2. Draft Statement of Licensing Policy 

2.1 A draft Statement of Licensing Policy was drawn up as shown at Appendix 2 
based on a review of our existing policy statement and taking into account both 
the current guidance at the time of drafting the revised Policy (Guidance to 

Agenda Item 6Page 5



2 

Licensing Authorities 4th Edition (“GLA4”)) and the draft version of the 5th Edition 
(GLA5) which was in it final stages of consultation. 

2.2 The majority of the changes made to the Statement of Licensing Policy were of an 
administrative nature, apart from the inclusion of two substantive new elements 
contained in GLA5 relating to Local Area Profiles (LAP) and local operator risk 
assessments.  These new elements were included in the draft Policy on the basis 
that the council would make a further revision to its Statement of Licensing Policy 
should the final publication of the 5th GLA be significantly different to the draft 
version. 

2.3 The final version of GLA5 was published at the end of September 2015 and does 
not differ to the draft version in any way that requires further changes to be made 
to the council’s revised Statement of Licensing Policy. 

2.4 The draft policy was put before Licensing Committee on 28 September 2015 and 
agreed with a methodology for public consultation.  

2.5 Specific mention regarding a ‘no- casinos’ resolution is included on page 7 of the 
draft policy and the consultation advertisement drew attention to this particular 
point. 

3. Consultation 

3.1 The Act requires a consultation process prior to determining the Statement of 
Licensing Policy.  This consultation commenced on 29 September 2015 and ran 
for six weeks until 10 November 2015. 

3.2 Consultees and consultation mechanisms are as previously outlined to the 
Committee. 

4. Evaluation of responses 

4.1 All incoming responses were entered into an evaluation grid for consideration.  
The format of the grid is as previously recommended by LACORS (Local 
Authorities Co-ordinators of Regulatory Services). 

4.2 Evaluation of each response and a recommendation as to whether or not to 
amend the policy statement was conducted by the Licensing Manager.  
Recommendations have been entered onto the grid which is attached as 
Appendix 3 to this report. 

5. Recommendation 

5.1 Members are asked to endorse the recommendations made within the evaluation 
grid, and where applicable to include them in the final version of the Statement of 
Licensing Policy to be put before Council for approval on 8 December 2015.   

5.2 Licensing authorities are then required to publish a notice advertising the 
publication of the statement on or before it comes into effect. 

6. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

6.1 None 

Page 6



3 

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements. 
IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1 

      

Legal  Section 349 of the act required each licensing authority to prepare and publish a 
statement of the principles that they propose to apply in exercising their functions 
under the Act.  The Policy will last for a 3 year period, but can be reviewed at any 
time during that period. 

Finance and 
Value for 
Money  

The cost of consultation and publishing an updated policy will be met from within 
existing budgets.  The Statement of Licensing Policy under the Gambling Act 2005 
will not place any new financial resource implications on the Council. 

Risk 
Assessment 

The publication of a Statement of Licensing Policy under the Gambling Act 2005 is 
a statutory requirement and failure to do so by 3 January 2016 as required may 
lead to negative publicity and criticism from central government. 

Close adherence to the mandatory guidance in terms of policy development and 
consultation will minimise the risk of judicial review at a later date.  This risk is 
further minimised by working in close cooperation and consistency with the other 
licensing authorities within Kent. 

Equality 
Impact 
Assessment 

Screening for Equality Impacts 

Question Answer Explanation 

  a. Does the decision 
being made or 
recommended through 
this paper have 
potential to cause 
adverse impact or 
discriminate against 
different groups in the 
community? 

No The Gambling Act 2005 is fully inclusive 
and affects all people equally.  The 
consultaion pool was diverse and wide and 
included as many social groups as 
possible as well as organisation that deal 
with vulnerable persons and interested 
business groups. 

b. Does the decision 
being made or 
recommended through 
this paper make a 
positive contribution to 
promoting equality? 

No       

c. What steps are you 
taking to mitigate, 
reduce, avoid or 
minimise the impacts 
identified above? 

       

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above 

Page 7



 

Corporate 
Business 
Plan 

There are direct links to Corporate Objective 1 – Safer Gravesham 
There are indirect links to Corporate Objectives 2 – Stronger Gravesham, 3 – 
Sustainable Gravesham and 4 – Sound and self-sufficient council. 

Crime and 
Disorder 

Fulfilling powers and duties under the Gambling Act 2005 is of direct relevance to 
the Council’s Section 17 obligations in that the objectives of the Act are: 
 
• Preventing gambling from being a source of crime and disorder, being 

associated with crime and disorder or being used to support crime 
• Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way 
• Protecting children and other vulnerable from being harmed or exploited by 

gambling 
 
As member of the Kent and Medway Regulatory Licensing Steering Group we are 
committed to a partnership approach to licensing and enforcement.  This also 
directly reflects Section 17 requirements. 

 

Page 8



 
 

 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Statement of Licensing Policy 
 

Gambling Act 2005 
 

2016 -2019 
 
 
 

1st Draft Version 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Gravesham Borough Council 
Delivering for the Community 

 
 

Page 9



 
 

Contents 
  

Section Item Page 
   
1 The Licensing Objectives 1 
2 Introduction 1 
3 Consultation 2 
4 Declaration 3 
5 The Borough of Gravesham 3 
6 Operators and Local Risk Assessments 5 
7 Local Area Profile 6 
8 Casinos 7 
9 Functions 7 

10 Responsible Authorities 8 
11 Interested Parties 9 
12 Exchange of Information 10 
13 Enforcement 10 
  
 The appendices that follow form part of this Policy Statement 
  

Appendix 1 Permits 12 
(i) Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre Gaming Machine Permits 12 
(ii) (Alcohol) Licensed Premises Gaming Machine Permits 13 
(iii) Prize Gaming Permits 14 
(iv) Club Gaming and Club Machine Permits 15 

Appendix 2 Premises Licences 16 
(i) Decision Making – General 16 
(ii) “Premises” 17 
(iii) Location 19 
(iv) Primary Activity 19 
(v) Planning 19 
(vi) Duplication 20 
(vii) Door Supervisors 20 
(viii) Licensing Objectives 20 
(ix) Reviews 21 
(x) Provisional Statements 22 
(xi) Adult Gaming Centres 23 
(xii) (Licensed) Family Entertainment Centres 24 
(xiii) Tracks 24 
(xiv) Casinos 27 
(xv) Bingo 27 
(xvi) Temporary Use Notices 28 
(xvii) Occasional Use Notices 28 
(xviii) Travelling Fairs 28 
(xix) Betting Premises   28 

Appendix 3 Responsible Authorities Contact Details 30 
Appendix 4 List of Persons/Bodies Consulted 31 
Appendix 5 Summary of Gaming Machines By Premises 32 
Appendix 6 Summary of Licensing Authority Delegations 34 
Appendix 7 Maximum Stakes And Prizes 35 
Appendix 8 Glossary of Terms 36 
Appendix 9 Gamcare Contact Details 39 

Page 10



1 
 

1.  The Licensing Objectives 
 
In exercising most of their functions under the Gambling Act 2005, licensing 
authorities must have regard to the licensing objectives as set out in section 1 of the 
Act.  The licensing objectives are: 
 
1. Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being associated 

with crime or disorder or being used to support crime 
2. Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way 
3. Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited 

by gambling 
 
This Licensing Authority is aware that, as per Section 153, in exercising its 
functions under Part 8 of the Act it should aim to permit the use of premises in 
so far as it thinks it is: 
 
· In accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling 

Commission; 
· In accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling 

Commission; 
· Reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives and; 
· In accordance with the Authority’s Statement of Licensing Policy 
 
 
2. Introduction 
 
Gravesham Borough Council is situated in the County of Kent, which contains 12 
District Councils and 1 Unitary Authority in total.  
 
Each is represented on the Kent & Medway Regulatory Licensing Steering Group 
(K&MRLStGp) whose role includes the identification of issues on which a consistent 
countywide approach is considered essential and the formulation of recommended 
policy that establishes a minimum standard on these identified issues.  
 
This policy is an updated version of that originally formulated by the K&MRLStGp. 
 
Licensing authorities are required by the Gambling Act 2005 to publish a statement of 
the principles that they propose to apply when exercising their functions.  This 
statement must be published at least every three years.  The statement can also be 
reviewed from “time to time” and the amended parts re-consulted upon.  The 
statement must then be re-published.  
 
In determining its policy the licensing authority must have regard to Gambling 
Commission Guidance, principally the Guidance to Licensing Authorities (GLA), and 
will give appropriate weight to the views of those it has consulted. 
 
The Gambling Commission recently completed consultation on its 5th edition of the 
GLA; the key drivers for the proposed amendments being to:  
 
· reflect regulatory and legislative changes since the 2012 version  
· reflect recent changes to the social responsibility provisions within the 

Commission’s Licence conditions and codes of practice  
· promote local partnership working between licensing authorities and local 

gambling operators to facilitate a coordinated approach to local issues  

Page 11



2 
 

· provide greater clarity about the wide range of powers afforded to licensing 
authorities to manage local gambling regulation through measures such as their 
statement of licensing policy.  

 
The final document, following consultation, is not due to become available until after 
the date by which the Licensing authority must publish its revised policy.   The 
current Guidance at the time of developing this policy remains the 4th edition. 
 
This document therefore seeks to reflect the current Guidance whilst addressing 
newly introduced areas in the Gambling Commission’s consultation on the 5th edition.  
Should the 5th edition of the Gambling Commission’s Guidance be substantially 
different, Gravesham Borough Council will re-consult and revise its policy 
accordingly.  
 
 
3. Consultation 
 
The Gambling Act requires that the following parties be consulted by Licensing 
Authorities: 
 
· The Chief Officer of Police 
· One or more persons who appear to the authority represent the interests of 

persons carrying on gambling businesses in the authority’s area 
· One or more persons who appear to the authority to represent the interests of 

persons who are likely to be affected by the exercise of the authority’s functions 
under the Gambling Act 2005 
 

Gravesham Borough Council consulted widely on this policy statement, between 29 
September and 10 November 2015, before finalising and publishing it.  The full list of 
persons this authority consulted is provided at Appendix 4. 
 
In determining its Statement of Licensing Policy the licensing authority must 
have regard to the Gambling Commission’s guidance for local authorities, and 
having regard to that guidance will give appropriate weight to the views of 
those it has consulted.  In determining what weight to give to particular 
representations, the factors to be taken into account included: 
 
· who is making the representation (what if their expertise or interest); 
· relevance of the factors to the licensing objectives 
· how many other people have expressed the same or similar views; 
· how far the representation relate to matters the licensing authority should 

be including in its Statement of Licensing Policy   
. 
The full list of comments made, the consideration of them by the Council and the 
reasons given for decisions made in drafting the policy following consultation are 
available by request to: Licensing Section, Regulatory Services 01474 33 73 34 or 
via the Council’s website at: www.gravesham.gov.uk. 
 
The policy was approved at a meeting of the Full Council on 8 December 2015 and 
was published via our website on XX/XX/XX.  Copies have been placed in the public 
libraries of the area as well as being available in the principal Council Offices. 
 
Should you have any comments as regards this policy statement please send them 
via e-mail or letter to the following contact: 

Page 12



3 
 

 
Address: Regulatory Services Department, Gravesham Borough Council 
  Address: Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU 
 
E-mail:  licensing.changes@gravesham.gov.uk 
 
This policy statement will not override the right of any person to make an application, 
make representations about an application, or apply for a review of a licence.  Each 
application or representation will be considered on its own merits and according to 
the statutory requirements of the Gambling Act 2005 and the Guidance issued by the 
Gambling Commission (the Guidance).   
 
 
4. Declaration 
 
In producing this final licensing policy statement, this licensing authority declares that 
it has had regard to the licensing objectives of the Gambling Act 2005, the Guidance 
issued by the Gambling Commission and any responses from those consulted on the 
policy statement. 
 
 
5. The Borough of Gravesham 
 
Gravesham is located on the south bank of the River Thames in the north of Kent 
approximately 32km (20 miles) east of London. Covering an area of 105 km2 (40 
miles2) it stretches from the River Thames in the north to the crest of the North 
Downs in the south.  The borough has a striking urban-rural split; the rural area to the 
south of the borough and to the east of Gravesend, makes up 78% of the whole 
borough and is virtually all Green Belt land. 
 
As a place to live, Gravesham consists of Gravesend (including Milton, Denton and 
Chalk) and Northfleet - the towns at the heart of the borough - and the rural and 
semi-rural villages of Cobham, Higham, Istead Rise, Luddesdown, Meopham 
(including Harvel and Culverstone), Shorne and Vigo.  These areas are shown in the 
map overleaf.   
 
On Census day 2011, Gravesham’s ‘usual resident population’ was recorded as 
101,720; representing the 11th highest population figure of the twelve Kent local 
district authorities at that time.  The latest available estimates in 2013 suggest the 
local population totalled 103,800 and is expected to rise to 123,000 by 2037.  
 
There are approximately 41,700 dwellings in Gravesham with an average of 231 
dwellings built annually over the last four years. 
 
Based on the 2013 mid-year population estimates, these statistics equate to 
Gravesham having the third highest level of population density across Kent districts. 
 
At 38.9 years, Gravesham has the second lowest average age for residents across 
Kent districts, with 32% aged below 25 and 16% aged over 65. Since 2001 however, 
there has been an increase of over 30% in the number of residents aged over 85. 
 
Gravesham is the most diverse population in Kent, with approximately 23% of 
residents of an ethnicity other than ‘white British’.  14% of the district’s population 
were born outside of the UK, the highest figure in Kent and ahead of the national 
average. 5% of households do not have English as a first language.  

Page 13



4 
 

 
Life expectancy is 8.9 years lower for men and 7 years lower for women in the most 
deprived areas of Gravesham than in the least. 
 
Gravesham is inside the top-10 districts in the south east region for the rate of youth 
(18-24) unemployment.  
 
Across Kent districts, Gravesham is home to the smallest number of businesses 
employing more than 250 employees. 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 14



5 
 

6. Operators and Local Risk Assessments  
 
Gambling businesses are required to have an operator licence issued by the 
Gambling Commission before they can operate in Great Britain.  
 
An operator licence gives a general authorisation for a business to provide gambling 
facilities, but a business wishing to provide non-remote gambling facilities in a 
licensing authority area is required to apply for a premises licence that is specific to 
those particular premises.  
 
All operators are required to comply with conditions attached to both their operator 
and individual premises licences, and with the Commission’s social responsibility 
(SR) code of practice provisions, which have the force of licence conditions. 
 
They are also expected to comply with ordinary code (OC) provisions, which are 
intended to set out best industry practice, unless they have alternative arrangements 
in place that they can demonstrate are equally effective.  OC provisions do not have 
the status of licence conditions but failure to take account of them can be used as 
evidence in criminal or civil proceedings. 
 
The Licence Conditions and Codes of Practice (LCCP), which sets out the Gambling 
Commission’s general licence conditions and associated code of practice provisions, 
was updated in April 2015 and introduces significant new responsibilities for 
operators in relation to their local premises which aim to improve the exchange of 
information between licensing authorities and operators: 
 
· Social Responsibility code 10.1.1 which requires operators of premises-based 

businesses to assess the local risks to the licensing objectives posed by the 
provision of gambling facilities at each of their premises, and have policies, 
procedures and control measures to mitigate those risks; taking into account 
relevant matters identified in the licensing authority’s statement of licensing 
policy, and;  

 
· Ordinary Code 10.1.2 which states that licensees should share their risk 

assessments with licensing authorities when applying for a premises licence or 
applying for a variation to existing licensed premises, or otherwise on request.  

 
As part of their requirements under SR code provision 10.1.1, operators must review 
(and update as necessary) their local risk assessments:  
 

a) to take account of significant changes in local circumstances, including those 
identified in a licensing authority’s statement of licensing policy;  

b) when there are significant changes at a licensee’s premises that may affect 
their mitigation of local risks;  

c) when applying for a variation of a premises licence; and  
d) in any case, undertake a local risk assessment when applying for a new 

premises licence.  
 
Both of these provisions (SR 10.1.1 and OC 10.1.2) come into force on 6 April 2016.  
 
This licensing authority will require these risk assessments to be submitted for all 
gambling premises applications for new and variation applications, or otherwise upon 
request, from this date. 
 
 

Page 15



6 
 

7. Local Area Profile 
 
The draft guidance suggests that, like operators, licensing authorities complete and 
map their own assessment of local risks and concerns by developing local area 
profiles to help shape their statements; although there is no requirement to do this. 
 
In simple terms, the objective of a local area profile in this context is to set out what 
an area is like, what risks this might pose to the licensing objectives, and what the 
implications of this are for the licensing authority and operators.  
 
Licensing authorities may wish to include local area profiles within their statements. 
Alternatively, they can reference the implications of local area profiles for their 
regulatory approach in the statement, but maintain the actual profiles separately in 
order to enable them to be updated without the need to re-consult on amending the 
full statement of principles.  
 
Gravesham’s area is subject to ongoing change and development.  It is not therefore 
considered appropriate to include a local area profile within the body of this policy as 
this would only represent a snapshot of its profile at a given point in time and require 
re-consultation whenever updated. 
 
At the time of publishing this document, this Licensing Authority does not have 
evidence suggesting any specific issues within its area or sufficient data with which to 
produce a suitably detailed local area profile.  If the need to develop a local area 
profile arises, this will be done outside the scope of this document and updated as 
appropriate.  Any local area profile will be available to view alongside this policy on 
the council’s website www.gravesham.gov.uk 
 
It should be noted that, in assessing local area profiles, Licensing Authorities can 
take into account the location of: 
 
· schools, sixth form colleges, youth centres etc., with reference to the potential 

risk of under-age gambling;  
· hostels or support services for vulnerable people, such as those with addiction 

issues or who are homeless, given the greater risk of problem gambling among 
these groups;  

· religious buildings;  
· any known information about issues with problem gambling;  
· the surrounding night time economy, and possible interaction with gambling 

premises;  
· patterns of crime or anti-social behaviour in the area, and specifically linked to 

gambling premises;  
· the socio-economic makeup of the area;  
· the density of different types of gambling premises in certain locations; and  
· specific types of gambling premises in the local area (e.g., seaside resorts may 

typically have more arcades or FECs).  
 
This Licensing Authority will expect operators to include the above factors, and any 
local area profiles created by the council, when carrying out their risk assessments. 
 
 
 
 

Page 16



7 
 

8. Casinos  
 
Proposal for a casino – This licensing authority did not submit a proposal for a 
premises licence for a small casino 
 
No Casinos resolution – Section 166 of the Gambling Act 2005 gives a Licensing 
Authority the ability to resolve not to issue casino premises licences. This licensing 
authority passed a ‘no casino’ resolution at a meeting of Full Council on 4 December 
2012.  It is the intention that Full Council approve a further ‘no casinos’ resolution at 
its meeting of 8 December 2015. 
 
9.  Functions 
 
Licensing Authority Functions 
 

Function Who deals with it 

Be responsible for the licensing of premises where 
gambling activities are to take place by issuing Premises 
Licences 

Licensing Authority 

Issue Provisional Statements Licensing Authority 

Regulate members’ clubs and miners’ welfare institutes 
who wish to undertake certain gaming activities via 
issuing Club Gaming Permits and/or Club Machine 
Permits 

Licensing Authority 

Issue Club Machine Permits to Commercial Clubs Licensing Authority 

Grant permits for the use of certain lower stake gaming 
machines at unlicensed Family Entertainment Centres Licensing Authority 

Receive notifications from alcohol licensed premises 
(under the Licensing Act 2003) of the use of two or fewer 
gaming machines 

Licensing Authority 

Grant Licensed Premises Gaming Machine Permits for 
premises licensed to sell/supply alcohol for consumption 
on the licensed premises, under the Licensing Act 2003, 
where more than two machines are required 

Licensing Authority 

Register small society lotteries below prescribed 
thresholds Licensing Authority 

Issue Prize Gaming Permits Licensing Authority 

Receive and Endorse Temporary Use Notices Licensing Authority 

Receive Occasional Use Notices Licensing Authority 

Provide information to the Gambling Commission 
regarding details of licences issued (see section above on 
‘information exchange) 

Licensing Authority 

Maintain registers of the permits and licences that are 
issued under these functions Licensing Authority 

Page 17



8 
 

 
Gambling Commission Functions 
 

Function Who deals with it 

Issue and renewal of Operating Licences Gambling Commission 

Review Operating Licences  Gambling Commission 

Issue Personal Licences  Gambling Commission 

Issue Codes of Practice Gambling Commission 

Issue Guidance to Licensing Authorities  Gambling Commission 

Licence remote gambling through Operating Licences  Gambling Commission 

Issue licences in relation to the manufacture, supply, 
installation, adaptation, maintenance or repair of gaming 
machines 

Gambling Commission 

Deal with appeals against Commission decisions 
Gambling Appeals 

Gambling Appeals 
Tribunal 

 
The Licensing Authority is not responsible for remote gambling.  This will fall to the 
Gambling Commission via Operating Licences 
 
Concerns about manufacture, supply or repair of gaming machines will not be dealt 
with by the licensing authority but will be notified to the Gambling Commission. 
 
10. Responsible Authorities 
 
In exercising this licensing authority’s powers under Section 157(h) of the Act to 
designate, in writing, a body which is competent to advise the authority about the 
protection of children from harm, the following principles have been applied: 
· the need for the body to be responsible for an area covering the whole of the 

licensing authority’s area 
· the need for the body to be answerable to democratically elected persons, rather 

than any particular vested interest group etc. 
 
In accordance with the Gambling Commission’s draft Guidance for local authorities 
this authority designates the following for this purpose:  
 
Specialist Children’s Services 
Kent County Council 
Joynes House 
New Road 
Gravesend 
Kent 
DA11 0AT 
 
The contact details of all the Responsible Bodies under the Gambling Act 2005 are 
available in Appendix 3 and via the Council’s website at: www.gravesham.gov.uk 

Page 18



9 
 

11. Interested parties 
 
Interested parties can make representations about licence applications, or apply for a 
review of an existing licence.  These parties are defined in the Gambling Act 2005 as 
someone who, in the opinion of the licensing authority which issues the licence or to 
which the application is made, - 
a) lives sufficiently close to the premises to be likely to be affected by the authorised 

activities, 
b) has business interests that might be affected by the authorised activities, or 
c) represents persons who satisfy paragraph (a) or (b). 
 
The licensing authority is required by regulations to state the principles it will apply in 
exercising its powers under the Gambling Act 2005 to determine whether a person is 
an interested party.  The principles are: 
 
Each case will be decided upon its merits.  This authority will not apply a rigid rule to 
its decision-making.  It will however consider the following matters as recommended 
by the Guidance to local authorities: 
 
· the size of the premises 
· the nature of the premises 
· the distance of the premises from the location of the person making the 

representation 
· the potential impact of the premises (number of customers, routes likely to be 

taken by those visiting the establishment); and 
· the nature of the complainant.  (not the personal characteristics of the 

complainant but the interests of the complainant, which may be relevant to the 
distance from the premises.  For example, it could be reasonable for an authority 
to conclude that “sufficiently close to be likely to be affected” could have a 
different meaning for (a) a private resident (b) a residential school for children 
with truanting problems and (c) residential hostel for vulnerable adults). 

· the catchment area of the premises (i.e. how far people travel to visit); and 
· whether the person making the representation has business interests in that 

catchment area, that might be affected. 
 
It will also consider the Gambling Commission’s Guidance that “has business 
interests” should be given the widest possible interpretation and include 
partnerships, charities, faith groups and medical practices. 
 
The Gambling Commission has emphasised to licensing authorities, that 
‘demand’ cannot be a factor in decisions.   
 
Guidance also states that moral objections to gambling are not a valid reason to 
reject applications for premises licences. This is because such objections do not 
relate to the licensing objectives (Guidance to Licensing Authorities). 
 
The Gambling Commission has also recommended that the licensing authority state 
that interested parties include trade associations and trade unions, and residents’ 
and tenants’ associations.  This authority will not however generally view these 
bodies as interested parties unless they have a member who can be classed as one 
under the terms of the Gambling Act 2005 i.e. lives sufficiently close to the premises 
to be likely to be affected by the authorised activities. 
 

Page 19



10 
 

Interested parties can be represented by other persons such as Ward Councillors, 
Councillors for the Division, MP’s etc.   Councillors who are part of the Licensing 
Committee dealing with the licence may not be able to represent an interested party.  
They may recommend another councillor who may help.  If an interested party needs 
advice on this matter he should contact the Council’s Democratic Services section 
(committee.section@gravesham.gov.uk) or by telephone 01474 33 72 46 
 
 
12.  Exchange of Information 
 
The Guidance requires local authorities to include a section within their Statements of 
Policy which sets out,  “the principles to be applied by the authority in exercising the 
functions under Sections 29 and 30 of the Act with respect to the exchange of 
information between it and the Commission, and the functions under section 350 of 
the Act with respect to the exchange of information between it and the other persons 
listed in Schedule 6 of the Act.” 
In holding and exchanging information with other bodies during the exercise of its 
functions under the Act this licensing authority will act in accordance with the 
provisions of the Act , the Data Protection principles as set out in the Data Protection 
Act 1998 and its duties under the Freedom of Information Act 2000.   
This licensing authority will also have regard to any Guidance issued by the 
Gambling Commission to Local Authorities on this matter as well as any relevant 
regulations issued by the Secretary of State under the powers provided in the 
Gambling Act 2005 
  
Any protocols established with regard to information exchange with other bodies will 
be made available. 
 
 
13.  Enforcement  
 
The Kent & Medway Licensing Steering Group has formulated a Compliance and  
Enforcement Protocol which each Licensing Authority and Responsible Authority has 
agreed. The purpose of this protocol is to facilitate co-operation and co-ordination 
between enforcement agencies in pursuance of both the Gambling Act 2005 and the 
Licensing Act 2003. It will underpin the mutual operational support required to tackle 
licensing issues. 
 
In accordance with the Guidance this licensing authority will endeavour to avoid 
duplication with other regulatory regimes so far as possible.   
 
 
Licensing authorities are required by regulation under the Gambling Act 2005 to state 
the principles to be applied by the authority in exercising the functions under Part 15 
of the Act with respect to the inspection of premises; and the powers under section 
346 of the Act to institute criminal proceedings in respect of the offences specified. 
 
This licensing authority’s principles are that it will be guided by the Guidance and will 
endeavour to be: 
 
o Proportionate: regulators should only intervene when necessary:  remedies 

should be appropriate to the risk posed, and costs identified and minimised; 
o Accountable:  regulators must be able to justify decisions, and be subject to 

public scrutiny; 
o Consistent:  rules and standards must be joined up and implemented fairly; 

Page 20



11 
 

o Transparent:  regulators should be open, and keep regulations simple and 
user friendly;  and 

o Targeted:  regulation should be focused on the problem, and minimise side 
effects  

 
This licensing authority has adopted and implemented a risk-based inspection 
programme, based on; 
 

· The licensing objectives 
· Relevant Codes of Practice 
· Guidance issued by the Gambling Commission, in particular Part 36 
· The principles set out in this statement of licensing policy 

 
The main enforcement and compliance role for this licensing authority in terms of the 
Gambling Act 2005 will be to ensure compliance with the Premises Licences and 
other permissions which is authorises.   
 
The Gambling Commission will be the enforcement body for the Operator and 
Personal Licences.  It is also worth noting that the concerns about manufacture, 
supply or repair of gaming machines are not dealt with by the Licensing 
Authority but should be notified to the Gambling Commission 
 
The Gambling Commission will be responsible for compliance as regards unlicensed 
premises. 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 21



12 
 

Appendix 1 - Permits 
 
Introduction 
 
The Gambling Commission’s Guidance for Licensing Authorities (herein referred to 
as ‘the Guidance’) states, 
 
“The authority should set out in its statement what factors it may take into account 
when considering applications for premises licences, permits and other permissions 
and matters that it will consider relevant when determining whether to review a 
licence. This is where considerations such as the proximity of gambling premises to 
schools and vulnerable adult centres, or to residential areas where there may be a 
high concentration of families with children, should be detailed. Any such policy must, 
however, come with the qualification that each case will be decided on its merits, so if 
an applicant can show how they might overcome licensing objective concerns, that 
will have to be taken into account.” 
 
The paragraphs below endeavour to meet this request: 
 
 
(i) Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre gaming machine permits  
(Statement of Principles on Permits - Schedule 10 paragraph 7) 
 
Where a premises does not hold a Premises Licence but wishes to provide gaming 
machines, it may apply to the licensing authority for this permit.   
 
The applicant must show that the premises will be wholly or mainly used for 
making gaming machines for use. 
 
The Gambling Act 2005 states that a licensing authority may prepare a statement of 
principles that they propose to consider in determining the suitability of an applicant 
for a permit and in preparing this statement, and/or considering applications, it need 
not (but may) have regard to the licensing objectives and shall have regard to any 
relevant guidance issued by the Commission under section 25. 
 
It should be noted that a licensing authority cannot attach conditions to this type of 
permit and that the “statement of principles” only applies to initial applications and not 
to renewals (paragraph 18(4)).   
 
For initial applications, the Licensing Authority does not have to have regard to the 
licensing objectives but does need to have regard to any Gambling Commission 
guidance.  
 
The Guidance states, “in its Licensing Authority Statement of Policy, a licensing 
authority may include a statement of principles that it proposes to apply when 
exercising its functions in considering applications for permits. In particular it may 
want to set out the matters that it will take into account in determining the suitability of 
the applicant. Given that the premises will particularly appeal to children and young 
persons, licensing authorities may want to give weight to matters relating to child 
protection issues.”  
 

· The Guidance also states, "An application for a permit may be granted only if 
the licensing authority is satisfied that the premises will be used as an 
unlicensed FEC, and if the chief officer of police has been consulted on the 
application…Licensing authorities might wish to consider asking applications 

Page 22



13 
 

to demonstrate: a full understanding of the maximum stakes and prizes of the 
gambling that is permissible in unlicensed FEC’s; 

· that the applicant has no relevant convictions (those that are set out in 
Schedule 7 of the Act; and 

· that employees are trained to have a full understanding of the maximum 
stakes and prizes” 

 
 
With regard to renewals of these permits, a licensing authority may refuse an 
application for renewal of a permit only on the grounds that an authorised local 
authority officer has been refused access to the premises without reasonable excuse, 
or that renewal would not be reasonably consistent with pursuit of the licensing 
objectives. 
 
(ii) (Alcohol) Licensed premises gaming machine permits – (Schedule 13 Para 
4(1)) 
 
There is provision in the Act for premises licensed to sell alcohol for consumption on 
the premises, to automatically have 2 gaming machines, of categories C and/or D.  
The premises merely need to notify the licensing authority.  The licensing authority 
can remove the automatic authorisation in respect of any particular premises if: 
· provision of the machines is not reasonably consistent with the pursuit of the 

licensing objectives; 
· gaming has taken place on the premises that breaches a condition of section 282 

of the Gambling Act (i.e. that written notice has been provided to the licensing 
authority, that a fee has been provided and that any relevant code of practice 
issued by the Gambling Commission about the location and operation of the 
machine has been complied with)  

· the premises are mainly used for gaming; or 
· an offence under the Gambling Act has been committed on the premises 
 
If a premises wishes to have more than 2 machines, then it needs to apply for a 
permit and the licensing authority must consider that application based upon the 
licensing objectives, any guidance issued by the Gambling Commission issued under 
Section 25 of the Gambling Act 2005,  and “such matters as they think relevant.”    
 
This licensing authority considers that “such matters” will be decided on a case by 
case basis but generally there will be regard to the need to protect children and 
vulnerable persons from being harmed or being exploited by gambling and will 
expect the applicant to satisfy the authority that there will be sufficient measured to 
ensure that under 18 year olds do not have access to the adult only gaming 
machines.  Measures which will satisfy the authority that there will be no access may 
include the adult machines being in sight of the bar, or in the sight of staff who will 
monitor that the machines are not being used by those under 18.  Notices and 
signage may also be of help.  As regards the protection of vulnerable persons, 
applicants may wish to consider the provision of information leaflets/helpline numbers 
for organisations such as GamCare. 
 
It is recognised that some alcohol licensed premises may apply for a premises 
licence for their non-alcohol licensed areas.  Any such application would most likely 
need to be applied for, and dealt with as an Adult Gaming Centre Premises licence. 
 

Page 23



14 
 

It should be noted that the licensing authority can decide to grant the application with 
a smaller number of machines and/or a different category of machines than that 
applied for.  Conditions (other than these) cannot be attached. 
 
It should also be noted that the holder of a permit must comply with any Code of 
Practice issued by the Gambling Commission about the location and operation of the 
machine. 
 
(iii) Prize Gaming Permits – (Statement of Principles on Permits - Schedule 14 
Para 8 (3)) 
 
The Gambling Act 2005 states that a Licensing Authority may “prepare a statement 
of principles that they propose to apply in exercising their functions under this 
Schedule” which “may, in particular, specify matters that the licensing authority 
propose to consider in determining the suitability of the applicant for a permit”.   
 
The Guidance states: “In its Licensing Authority Statement of Policy, a licensing 
authority may include a statement of principles that it proposes to apply when 
exercising its functions in considering applications for permits. In particular it may 
want to set out the matters that it will take into account in determining the suitability of 
the applicant. Given that the premises will particularly appeal to children and young 
persons, licensing authorities may want to give weight to matters relating to child 
protection issues.” 
 
The applicant should be able to demonstrate: 
 

· that they understand the limits to stakes and prizes that are set out in 
Regulations; 

· that the gaming offered is within the law 
· Clear policies that outline the steps to be taken to protect children from harm. 

 
In making its decision on an application for this permit the licensing authority does 
not need to have regard to the licensing objectives but must have regard to any 
Gambling Commission guidance.   
 
It should be noted that there are conditions in the Gambling Act 2005 that the permit 
holder must comply with, but that the licensing authority cannot attach conditions.  
The conditions in the Act are: 

· the limits on participation fees, as set out in regulations, must be complied 
with; 

· all chances to participate in the gaming must be allocated on the premises on 
which the gaming is taking place and on one day; the game must be played 
and completed on the day the chances are allocated; and the result of the 
game must be made public in the premises on the day that it is played;  

· the prize for which the game is played must not exceed the amount set out in 
regulations (if a money prize), or the prescribed value (if non-monetary prize); 
and 

· participation in the gaming must not entitle the player to take part in any other 
gambling.  

 
 
 
 
 

Page 24



15 
 

(iv) Club Gaming and Club Machines Permits 
 
Members Clubs and Miners’ welfare institutes (but not Commercial Clubs) may apply 
for a Club Gaming Permit or a Clubs Gaming machines permit.  The Club Gaming 
Permit will enable the premises to provide gaming machines (3 machines of 
categories B, C or D), equal chance gaming and games of chance as set-out in 
forthcoming regulations.  A Club machine permit will enable the premises to provide 
gaming machines (3 machines of categories B, C or D). 
 
Guidance for local authorities states: “The Act states that members’ clubs must have 
at least 25 members and be established and conducted ‘wholly or mainly’ for 
purposes other than gaming, unless the gaming is restricted to bridge and whist. 
Members’ clubs must be permanent in nature, but there is no need for a club to have 
an alcohol licence.” 
 
  
The Guidance also makes it clear that “Before granting the permit the authority will 
need to satisfy itself that the premises meet the requirements of a members’ club and 
may grant the permit if the majority of members are over 18.” 
 
This Licensing Authority is aware that: “Licensing authorities may only refuse an 
application on the grounds that: 
(a) the applicant does not fulfil the requirements for a members’ or commercial club 

or miners’ welfare institute and therefore is not entitled to receive the type of 
permit for which it has applied; 

(b) the applicant’s premises are used wholly or mainly by children and/or young 
persons; 

(c) an offence under the Act or a breach of a permit has been committed by the 
applicant while providing gaming facilities; 

(d) a permit held by the applicant has been cancelled in the previous ten years; or 
(e) an objection has been lodged by the Commission or the police 
 
It should be noted that there is a ‘fast-track’ procedure available for premises that 
hold a Club Premises Certificate under the Licensing Act 2003.  As the Gambling 
Commission’s Guidance for local authorities states: “Under the fast-track procedure 
there is no opportunity for objections to be made by the Commission or the police, 
and the ground upon which an authority can refuse a permit are reduced” and “The 
grounds on which an application under this process may be refused are that: 
 
(a) the club is established primarily for gaming, other than gaming prescribed by 
regulations under section 266 of the Act  
(b) in addition to the prescribed gaming, the applicant provides facilities for other 
gaming 
(c) a club gaming permit or club machine permit issued to the applicant in the last ten 
years has been cancelled.”  
 
There are statutory conditions on Club Gaming Permits that no child uses a 
category B or C machine on the premises and that the holder complies with 
any relevant provision of a Code of Practice about the location and operation 
of gaming machines. 
 

Page 25



16 
 

Appendix 2 
2. Premises Licences 
 
(i) Decision making - general: 
Premises Licences will be subject to the permissions/restrictions set-out in the 
Gambling Act 2005 and Regulations, as well as specific mandatory and default 
conditions detailed in regulations issued by the Secretary of State.  Licensing 
authorities are able to exclude default conditions and also attach others, where it is 
believed to be appropriate. 
 
This licensing authority is aware that in making decisions about premises licences it 
should aim to permit the use of premises for gambling in so far as it thinks it: 
 
· in accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling 

Commission 
· in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling Commission  
· reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives and 
· in accordance with the authority’s statement of licensing policy 
 
As regards licence conditions, the Guidance for local authorities states that 
“Conditions imposed by the licensing authority must be proportionate to the 
circumstances which they are seeking to address.  In particular, licensing authorities 
should ensure that the premises licence conditions are: 
 
· relevant to the need to make the proposed building suitable as a gambling facility 
· directly related to the premises and the type of licence applied for 
· fairly and reasonably related to the scale and type of premises 
· reasonable in all other respects.”  
 
The Commission also adds that “Licensing authorities should take decisions on 
individual conditions on a case by case basis, although this will be against the 
background of any general policy set out in this Guidance or their own Licensing 
Authority Statement of Policy..”  
 
This licensing authority is in agreement with these statements by the Gambling 
Commission. 
 
There are also conditions which the licensing authority cannot attach to premises 
licences which are: 
 
· any condition on the premises licence which makes it impossible to comply with 

an operating licence condition  
· conditions relating to gaming machine categories, numbers, or method of 

operation; 
· conditions which provide that membership of a club or body be required (the 

Gambling Act  2005 specifically removes the membership requirement for casino 
and bingo clubs and this provision prevents it being reinstated and 

· conditions in relation to stakes, fees, winning or prizes 
 
The Gambling Commission has also emphasised to local authorities, that 
‘demand’ cannot be a factor in decisions.   
 
 
 

Page 26



17 
 

(ii) “premises”: 
 
Definition of “premises” – In the Act “premises” is defined as including “any place”.  
Section 152 therefore prevents more than one premises licence applying to any 
place.  But a single building could be subject to more than one premises licence, 
provided they are for different parts of the building and the different parts of the 
building can be reasonably regarded as being different premises.  This approach has 
been taken to allow large, multiple unit premises such as a pleasure park, pier, track 
or shopping mall to obtain discrete premises licences, where appropriate standards 
are in place.  However, licensing authorities should pay particular attention if there 
are issues about sub-divisions of a single building or plot and should ensure that 
mandatory conditions relating to access between premises are observed. 
 
The Gambling Commission states in the most recent edition of its Guidance to 
Licensing authorities that “In most cases the expectation is that a single building/plot 
will be the subject of an application for a licence, for example, 32 High Street.  But, 
that does not mean 32 High Street cannot be the subject of separate premises 
licences for the basement and ground floor, if they are configured acceptably.  
Whether different parts of a building can properly be regarded as being separate will 
depend on circumstances.  The location of the premises will clearly be an important 
consideration and the suitability of the division is likely top be a matter for discussion 
between the operator and the licensing officer.  However, the Commission does not 
consider that areas of a building that are artificially or temporarily separated, for 
example by ropes or moveable partitions, can properly be regarded as different 
premises 
 
This licensing authority takes particular note of the Gambling Commission’s 
Guidance which states that in considering applications for multiple licences for a 
building or those for a specific part of the building to be licensed,  licensing 
authorities “should be aware that: 
o The third licensing objective seeks to protect children from being harmed by 

gambling.  In practice that means not only preventing them from taking part in 
gambling, but also that they are not permitted to be in close proximity to 
gambling.  Therefore premises should be configured so that children are not 
invited to participate in, have accidental access to, or closely observe gambling 
where they are prohibited from participating 

o Entrances and exits from parts of a building covered by one or more premises 
licences should be separate and identifiable so that the separation of different 
premises is not compromised and that people do not ‘drift’ into a gambling area. 
In this context it should normally be possible to access the premises without 
going through another licensed premises or premises with a permit 

o Customers should be able to participate in the activity named on the premises 
licence. 

 
This licensing authority will also take note of the Guidance that, licensing authorities 
should pay particular attention to applications where access to the licensed premises 
is through other premises (which themselves may be licensed or unlicensed).  
Clearly, there will be specific issues that authorities should consider before granting 
such applications, for example, whether children can gain access; compatibility of the 
two establishments; and ability to comply with the requirements of the Act.   But, in 
addition an overriding consideration should be whether, taken as a whole, the co-
location of the licensed premises with other facilities has the effect of creating an 
arrangement that otherwise would, or should, be prohibited under the Act.  
 

Page 27



18 
 

The Guidance also gives a list of factors which the licensing authority should be 
aware of, which may include: 
 

· Whether the premises have a separate registration for business rates 
· Whether the premises’ neighbouring premises is owned by the same person 

or someone else? 
· Whether each premises be accessed from the street or a public passageway? 
· Whether the premises can only be accessed from any other gambling 

premises? 
 
This authority will consider these and other relevant factors in making its decision, 
depending on all the circumstances of the case. 
 
The Gambling Commission’s relevant access provisions for each premises type are 
reproduced below: 
 
Casinos 
 

· The principal access entrance to the premises must be from a street (as 
defined in the Guidance) 

· No entrance to a casino must be from premises that are used wholly or 
mainly by children and/or young persons 

· No customer must be able to enter a casino directly from any other premises 
which holds a gambling premises licence 

 
Adult Gaming Centre 
 

· No customer must be able to access the premises directly from any other 
licensed gambling premises 

 
Betting Shops 
 

· Access must be from a street (as per the Guidance) or from another premises 
with a betting premises licence 

· No direct access from a betting shop to another premises used for the retail 
sale of merchandise or services.   In effect there cannot be an entrance to a 
betting shop from a shop of any kind 

 
Tracks 
 

· No customer should be able to access the premises directly from: 
- a casino 
- an adult gaming centre 

 
Bingo Premises 
 

· No customer must be able to access the premises directly from: 
 

- a casino 
- an adult gaming centre 
- a betting premises, other than a track 

 
Family Entertainment Centre 
 

Page 28



19 
 

· No customer must be able to access the premises directly from: 
 

- a casino 
- an adult gaming centre 
- a betting premises, other than a track 

 
(iii) Location: 
 
This licensing authority notes the Guidance which states that: “Licensing authorities 
may need to consider the location of premises in the context of the licensing 
objective of ‘preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being 
associated with crime or disorder or being used to support crime.’  If an application 
for a licence or permit is received in relation to premises that are in an area noted for 
particular problems with organised crime, for example, licensing authorities should 
think about what (if any) controls might be appropriate to prevent those premises 
becoming a source of crime.  These might include conditions being put on the 
licence, such as a requirement for door supervisors”  
 
The Commission also states in its Guidance: “For example, a licensing policy 
statement might set out that the authority will consider very carefully whether 
applications for premises licence in respect of certain gambling premises located 
very close to a school, or a centre for gambling addicts should be granted in light of 
the third licensing objective (protecting children and other vulnerable persons from 
being harmed or exploited by gambling.).  Any such policy must, however, come with 
the qualification that each case will be decided on its merits, and will depend to a 
large extent on the type of gambling that it is proposed will be offered on the 
premises.  If an applicant for a premises licence can show how licensing objective 
concerns can be overcome, that will have to be taken into account.” This licensing 
authority will adhere to this advice. 
 
(iv) Primary Activity 
 
By distinguishing between premises types the Act makes it clear that the 
primary gambling activity of the premises should be that described.  Thus, in a 
bingo premises, the primary activity should be bingo.  Subject to the gaming 
machine entitlements which various types of licence bring with them (and 
except in the case of tracks), the act does not permit premises to be licensed 
for more than one of the above activities. The Licensing authority will take 
account of the Commission’s document setting out the indicators that are used 
to assess as to whether the requirements for betting being the primary 
gambling activity in any particular premises are being met. 
 
(v) Planning: 
Planning and licensing are different regulatory systems and will be dealt with 
separately.  The Guidance states: “When dealing with a premises licence application 
for finished buildings, the licensing authority should not take into account whether 
those buildings have to comply with the necessary planning or building consents. Nor 
should fire or health and safety risks be taken into account. Those matters should be 
dealt with under relevant planning control, building and other regulations, and must 
not form part of the consideration for the premises licence. Section 210 of the Act 
prevents licensing authorities taking into account the likelihood of the proposal by the 
applicant obtaining planning or building consent when considering a premises licence 
application. Equally, the grant of a gambling premises licence does not prejudice or 
prevent any action that may be appropriate under the law relating to planning 
or building.”   

Page 29



20 
 

 
This authority will though listen to, and consider carefully, any concerns about 
conditions which are not able to be met by licensees due to planning restrictions 
should such a situation arise. 
 
(vi) Duplication 
In accordance with the Guidance this licensing authority will endeavour to avoid 
duplication with other regulatory regimes so far as possible.   
 
(vii) Door Supervisors 
The Guidance states that licensing authorities may require persons operating 
premises in which gambling takes place to take measures such as the supervision of 
entrances; segregation of gambling from non-gambling areas frequented by children 
(assuming such non-gambling areas are compatible with requirements of the Act); 
and the supervision of gaming machines in non-adult gambling specific premises in 
order to pursue the licensing objectives.  
 
It is to be noted that ‘in-house’ door supervisors (i.e. non-contracted staff) at licensed 
casino or bingo premises are exempt from the requirements of the Private Security 
Industry Act 2001 (PSIA). Where an authority imposes door supervision requirements 
on such licences, the personnel will not need licensing under the 2001 Act.  
 
However where a casino or bingo premises are licensed under the Licensing Act 
2003 Door Supervisors employed are required to be licensed under the PSIA Act 
2001 to enable them to perform their functions under that Act. 
 
(viii) Licensing objectives 
 
This licensing authority has considered the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to 
local authorities and some comments are provided with regard to the licensing 
objectives.   
 
Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being 
associated with crime or disorder or being used to support crime: 
 The Guidance has noted that “disorder is intended to mean activity that is more 
serious and disruptive that mere nuisance.  Factors to consider in determining 
whether a disturbance was serious enough to constitute disorder would include 
whether police assistance was required and how threatening the behaviour was to 
those who could see or hear it.”  This authority agrees with this statement. 
 
Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way: 
The Guidance states that “Generally the Commission would not expect licensing 
authorities to become concerned with ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair 
and open way as this will be a matter for either the management of the gambling 
business, and therefore subject to the operating licence, or will be in relation to the 
suitability and actions of an individual and therefore subject to the personal licence.”  
This licensing authority notes, however, that the Gambling Commission also states 
“in relation to the licensing of tracks the licensing authorities’ role will be different 
from other premises in that track operators will not necessarily have an operating 
licence.  In those circumstances the premises licence may need to contain conditions 
to ensure that the environment in which betting takes place is suitable.”   
 
Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or 
exploited by gambling: 

Page 30



21 
 

The Guidance states that “The objective refers to protecting children from being 
‘harmed or exploited by gambling’. That means preventing them from taking part in 
gambling and for there to be restrictions on advertising so that gambling products are 
not aimed at children or advertised in such a way that makes them particularly 
attractive to children, excepting Category D gaming machines.” 
 
In promoting this Licensing Objective, this Licensing Authority will give due 
consideration as to whether specific measures will be needed to protect children on 
particular categories of premises.  This may include requirements such as 
supervision of entrances; segregation of gambling from areas frequented by children 
and supervision of gaming machines in non-adult gambling specific premises.  These 
considerations will be particularly relevant on tracks (where children will be permitted 
in the betting areas on race-days) and in the regional casino, where children will be 
permitted in non-gambling areas. 
 
As regards the term “vulnerable persons” it is noted that the Gambling Commission is 
not seeking to offer a definition but states that “it does for regulatory purposes 
assume that this group includes people who gamble more than they want to; people 
who gamble beyond their means; and people who may not be able to make informed 
or balanced decisions about gambling due to mental health needs, learning disability 
or substance misuse relating to alcohol or drugs.”  This licensing authority will 
consider the objective on a case-by-case basis.  Should a practical definition prove 
possible in future then this policy statement will have due regard to it. 
 
Licence holders may wish to make information publicly available about organisations 
that can provide advice and support, both in relation to gambling itself and to debt, 
e.g. GamCare, Gamblers Anonymous, Gordon House Association, National Debt line 
and local Citizens Advice Bureaux and independent advice agencies  
 
The Licence Conditions and Codes of Practice, published by the Gambling 
Commission in February 2015 (updated April 2015), contains the Commissions’ 
principle codes of practice issued under s.24 of the Act.  Included in this are various 
code provisions, relating to access to gambling by children and young persons for 
specific types of premises.  These are each broken down into Social Responsibility 
Code Provisions, compliance with which is a condition of operator’s licences, and 
Ordinary Codes, which set out good practice. 
 
It is acknowledged that Operators Licences are solely regulated by the Commission.  
This licensing authority will however pay particular attention to these and any other 
Codes of Practice which the Gambling Commission issues in relation to the 
protection of children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited 
by gambling at specific premises.. 
 
(ix) Reviews: 
 
Interested parties or responsible authorities can make requests for a review of a 
premises licence; however it is for the licensing authority to decide whether the 
review is to be carried-out.  This will be on the basis of whether the request for the 
review is relevant to the following matters: 
 
· it is in accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling 

Commission 
· it is in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling 

Commission  

Page 31



22 
 

· it is reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives and 
· it is in accordance with the authority’s statement of licensing policy 
 
As well as consideration as to whether the request is frivolous, vexatious, or will 
certainly not cause this authority to wish alter/revoke/suspend the licence, or whether 
it is substantially the same as previous representations or requests for review. 
 
The licensing authority can also initiate a review of a licence on the basis of any 
reason that it thinks is appropriate. 
 
(x) Provisional Statements 
 
Section 204 of the Act provides for a person to make an application to the licensing 
authority for a provisional statement in respect of premises that he or she: 

· expects to be constructed 
· expects to be altered 
· expects to acquire a right to occupy 

 
This licensing authority notes that the Guidance states: 
 
· Licensing authorities must take into account relevant matters, i.e. those related 

to gambling and the licensing objectives, and must not take into account 
irrelevant matters, e.g. the likelihood of obtaining planning permission or building 
regulation approval, when determining premises licence applications. “Licensing 
authorities should bear in mind that a premises licence, once it comes into effect, 
authorises premises to be used for gambling. Accordingly, a licence to use 
premises for gambling should only be issued in relation to premises that the 
licensing authority can be satisfied are going to be ready to be used for gambling 
in the reasonably near future, consistent with the scale of building or alterations 
required before the premises are brought into use…This is why the Act allows a 
potential operator to apply for a provisional statement if construction of the 
premises is not yet complete, or they need alteration, or he does not yet have a 
right to occupy them.” 

·  “Operators can apply for a premises licence in respect of premises which have 
still to be constructed or altered, and licensing authorities are required to 
determine any such applications on their merits… An authority is entitled to 
decide that it is appropriate to grant a licence subject to conditions, but it is not 
obliged to grant such a licence.  

· "Requiring the building to be complete before trading commences would ensure 
that the authority could, if considered necessary, inspect it fully…to check that 
gambling facilities comply with all necessary legal requirements…The physical 
location of higher stake gaming machines in premises to which children have 
access will be an important part of this, and inspection will allow the authority to 
check that the layout complies with the operator’s proposals and the legal 
requirements” (in relation to Provisional Licences). 
   

 
In terms of representations about premises licence applications, following the grant of 
a provisional statement, the Guidance states: “If a provisional statement has been 
granted, the licensing authority is constrained in the matters it can consider when an 
application for a premises is made subsequently in relation to the same premises.   
 
No further representations from relevant authorities or interested parties can be taken 
into account unless they concern matters which could not have been addressed at 

Page 32



23 
 

the provisional statement stage, or they reflect a change in the applicant’s 
circumstances.  In addition, the authority may refuse the premises licence (or grant it 
on terms different to those attached to the provisional statement) only by reference to 
matters: 
(a) which could not have been raised by objectors at the provisional licence stage;  
(b) which, in the authority’s opinion, reflect a change in the operator’s 

circumstances; 
(c) where the premises has not been constructed in accordance with the plan and 

information submitted with the provisional statement application. This must be a 
substantial change to the plan and licensing authorities should discuss any 
concerns they have with the applicant before making a decision. 

 
(xi) Adult Gaming Centres: 
 
This licensing authority particularly notes that the Guidance states: “No-one under 
the age of 18 is permitted to enter an AGC.  Licensing authorities will wish to have 
particular regard to the location of and entry to AGCs to minimise the  opportunities 
for children to gain access.  This may be of particular importance in areas where 
young people may be unsupervised, for example, where an AGC is in a complex, 
such as a shopping centre or airport.”  
 
Furthermore, “There can be no direct access between an AGC and any other 
premises licensed under the Act or premises with an FEC, club gaming, club 
machine or licensed premises gaming machine permit. There is no definition of 
‘direct access’ in the Act or regulations. However, it could be said that there should 
be an area separating the premises concerned (for example, a street or cafe), which 
the public go to for purposes other than gambling, for there to be shown to be no 
direct access.” 
 
This licensing authority will specifically have regard to the need to protect children 
and vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by gambling and will expect the 
applicant to satisfy the authority that there will be sufficient measures to, for example, 
ensure that under 18’s do not have access to the premises. 
 
This licensing authority will expect applicants to offer their own measures to meet the 
licensing objectives.  However, appropriate measures/licence conditions may cover 
such issues as: 

· Proof of age schemes 
· CCTV 
· Supervision of entrances/machine areas 
· Physical separation of areas 
· Location of entry 
· Notices/signage 
· Specific opening hours 
· Self barring scheme 
· Provision of information leaflets/helpline numbers for organisations such as 

GamCare 
 
This licensing authority notes the Guidance states, “Licensing authorities should take 
particular care in considering applications for multiple licences for a building and 
those relating to a discrete part of a building used for other (non-gambling) purposes. 
In particular they should be aware that entrances and exits from parts of a building 
covered by one or more licences should be separate and identifiable so that the 
separation of different premises is not compromised and that people do not ‘drift’ 

Page 33



24 
 

(xii) (Licensed) Family Entertainment Centres: 
 
This licensing authority will, in accordance with the Guidance, refer to the 
Commission’s website to see any conditions that apply to operator licences covering 
the way in which the area containing the category C machines should be delineated.  
This licensing authority will also make itself aware of any mandatory or default 
conditions on these premises licences, when they have been published.   
 
This licensing authority will specifically have regard to the need to protect children 
and vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by gambling and will expect the 
applicant to satisfy the authority that there will be sufficient measures, for example, 
ensure that under 18’s do not have access to the adult only gaming areas. 
 
This licensing authority will expect applicants to offer their own measures to meet the 
licensing objectives.  However, appropriate measures/licence conditions may cover 
such issues as: 

· Proof of age schemes 
· CCTV 
· Supervision of entrances/machine areas 
· Physical separation of areas 
· Location of entry 
· Notices/signage 
· Specific opening hours 
· Self barring scheme 
· Provision of information leaflets/helpline numbers for organisations such as 

GamCare 
· Measures/training for staff on how to deal with suspected truant school 

children on the premises 
 
(xiii) Tracks: 
 
This licensing authority takes note of the following Guidance from the Gambling 
Commission:  
· “Only one premises licence may be issued for any particular premises at any 

time, although the licence may authorise more than one type of gambling…there 
is one exception to this rule, namely a track (i.e. a horse racing course, dog track 
or other premises where races or sporting events take place), which may be 
subject to more than one premises licence, provided each licence relates to a 
specified area of the track…The Act sets out that there will be a main (betting 
premises) licence for the track, and, in addition, subsidiary premises licences for 
other gambling activities may be issued.  The normal limitations in respect of 
access by children and young persons will apply, although in relation to a 
premises licence for a a track, children and young persons will be permitted to 
enter track areas where facilities for betting are provided on days when dog-
racing and/or horse racing takes place.  This is subject to the rule that children 
and young persons may not enter any areas where gaming machines (other than 
category D machines) are provided…In principle there is no reason why multiple 
types of gambling should not co-exist on a track (with the exception of a casino or 
adult gaming centre), but authorities will want to think about how a third licensing 
objective is delivered by the co-location of premises.  As with the granting of 
multiple licences in a single building, licensing authorities will need to ensure that 
entrances to each type of premises are distinct and that under-18s are excluded 
from gambling areas where they are not permitted to enter.”  

Page 34



25 
 

·  “While there is no special class of betting premises licence for a track, the Act 
does contain rules which apply specifically to premises licences granted in 
respect of a track…Premises licences in relation to tracks differ from other types 
of premises licence in a number of ways. Most importantly, the applicant for the 
licence need not hold an operating licence from the Commission. That is 
because, unless the occupier of the track wishes to offer pool betting (or general 
betting) facilities himself (for which he will need a licence), the betting that is 
provided upon the track will not be provided by him, but will be provided by other 
operators who come onto the track. Since those operators will require the 
necessary operating licences, the Act allows the track premises licence holder to 
obtain a premises licence, without also having to hold an operating licence.” 

·  “The secondary aspect to this rule is that each individual operator coming onto 
the track on race days does not need to hold a premises licence. Instead they are 
covered by the umbrella of the premises licence held by the track premises 
licence holder.”  

· “Track premises licence holders act effectively as landlords, letting out parts of 
their premises to licensed betting operators. The responsibilities of track 
premises licence holders are established by the mandatory and default licence 
conditions attaching to their premises licence. The licensed betting operators 
authorised by track owners to provide betting facilities at tracks must comply with 
their operating licence conditions and codes of practice issued by the 
Commission.”  The conduct of the betting on tracks will therefore be regulated 
primarily through the operating licences that the persons offering betting on the 
track will need to hold; however, “the track premises licence holder retains the 
responsibility to meet all relevant conditions attached to their premises licence,” 
and “to report regulatory breaches or potential breaches relating to the premises 
itself or to betting operators.” 

 
This licensing authority will, in accordance with the Guidance, carefully consider the 
location and accessibility of gaming machines at tracks to promote The protection of 
children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling.  
“The Act forbids all persons under 18 years old to enter premises when betting 
facilities are being provided, other than at tracks. This dispensation allows families to 
attend premises such as greyhound tracks or racecourses on event days, and 
children to be permitted into areas where betting facilities are provided, such as the 
betting ring, where betting takes place.”  It is noted however that “the exemption 
allowing children access to betting areas on tracks does not extend to areas within a 
track where category C or above machines are provided, or other premises to which 
under 18 year olds are specifically not permitted access.” 
 
 
· Applications for track premises licences will need to demonstrate that, where the 

applicant holds a pool betting operating licence and is going to use their 
entitlement to four gaming machines, these machines (other than category D) will 
be located in areas from which children are excluded. 

 
Licensing authorities have a power under the Gambling Act 2005, to restrict the 
number of betting machines, their nature and the circumstances in which they are 
made available, by attaching a licence condition to a betting premises licence.  This 
licensing authority will take into account the size of premises and the ability of staff to 
monitor the use of the machines by vulnerable people when determining the number 
of machines permitted.   
· The Guidance also states:“Licensing authorities may receive applications 

indicating separate betting areas that may not necessarily have clear physical 

Page 35



26 
 

boundaries, such as walls or fencing. Such areas could still be the subject of a 
separate betting premises licence provided the area is clearly delineated, both in 
terms of making it clear to the public that they are entering a ‘betting office’, and 
to keep out persons aged under 18. The Commission considers that customers 
will be aware that they are moving into a separate betting area operated by an 
independent betting operator by virtue of the fixtures and fittings bearing the 
betting operator’s corporate identity. The delineation of such an area is best 
achieved through a physical barrier. A licensing authority concerned that such an 
area cannot be satisfactorily delineated may wish to refuse an application for a 
separate betting premises licence.” 

·  The Act permits self-contained parts of tracks, such as a permanent betting 
office on a racecourse or at a sports stadium, to be the subject of a separate 
betting premises licence. The effect of this approach would be that the betting 
premises licence holder would be responsible for upholding the premises licence 
conditions relating to the self-contained premises. Accordingly this removes 
premises licence condition responsibilities from the main track premises licence 
holder towards the self-contained premises. The betting premises licence holder 
would be responsible for maintaining the conditions associated with the licence 
(no alcohol consumption, and so on). 

· Alternatively, “a track betting licence for a track can authorise the entire track 
premises to be used for providing betting facilities, which would avoid the need 
for a separate betting premises licence to cover any self-contained betting 
premises.”  The effect of this approach would be that the track operator would be 
responsible for premises licence issues relating to the self-contained premises, 
rather than accountability resting with the betting operator providing facilities 
within it.”  

·  “Conditions applicable to off-track betting premises also apply to self-contained 
betting premises on tracks that are the subject of their own betting premises 
licence, which entitles the self-contained premises to offer up to four gaming 
machines (from categories B2 to D).” 

·  “The Commission considers that track owners should decide in conjunction with 
the betting operators offering facilities at their track which premises licensing 
arrangement best suits the specific nature and circumstances of their track.” 

· “Section 151 of the Act requires applicants for premises licences to submit plans 
of the premises with their application. This ensures that licensing authorities have 
the necessary information to make an informed judgement about whether the 
premises are fit for gambling. Plans for tracks need not be in a particular scale, 
but should be drawn to scale and should be sufficiently detailed to include the 
information required by regulations…The precise location of where betting 
facilities are provided is not required to be shown on track plans, both by virtue of 
the fact that betting is permitted anywhere on the premises and because of the 
difficulties associated with pinpointing exact locations for some types of track. 
Licensing authorities should satisfy themselves that the plan indicates the main 
areas where betting might take place,” however, “it (the plan) also needs to be 
sufficiently flexible to ensure that a relatively small change in the premises layout 
would not require an operator to submit an application to vary the track premises 
licence.” 

· “In the rare cases where the outer perimeter cannot be defined, it is likely that the 
track in question will not be specifically designed for the frequent holding of 
sporting events or races. In such cases betting facilities may be better provided 
through occasional use notices where the boundary premises do not need to be 
defined.”   

·   “It is a mandatory condition of premises licences that clear and accessible 
information about the terms on which a bet may be placed must be displayed at 

Page 36



27 
 

betting premises, including tracks… The track premises licence holder should 
make the necessary arrangements to ensure that betting rules are accessible to 
all customers, regardless of which area of the track they are in…The Commission 
recognises that there are often multiple locations of betting on a track,” and that it 
would be, “disproportionate and unnecessary to insist that betting rules are 
displayed at each distinct betting location; rather, the rules should be made 
available at suitable central locations… Other measures could be taken to ensure 
that they are made available to the public, such as printing them in the race-card 
or programme. The requirement could also be met by making a copy of the rules 
available in leaflet form from the main track office, and customers could be given 
a copy if they request one.” 

 
(xiv) Casinos 
 
Casinos and competitive bidding – This licensing authority is aware that where a 
licensing authority area is enabled to grant a Premises Licence for a new style casino 
(i.e. the Secretary of State has made such regulations under Section 175 of the 
Gambling Act 2005) there are likely to be a number of operators which will want to 
run the casino.  In such situations the local authority will run a ‘competition’ under 
Schedule 9 of the Gambling Act 2005.  This licensing authority will run such a 
competition in line with any regulations issued under the Gambling Act 2005 by the 
Secretary of State. 
 
Credit:  Guidance for Local Authorities states that:- “Section 177 attaches a condition 
to casino premises licences and bingo premises licences that prohibits the licensee 
from: 

· giving credit in connection with the gambling taking place on the premises 
· participating in, arranging, permitting or knowingly facilitating the giving of 

credit in connection with the gambling on the premises. 
 

However, section 177 does not prevent the licensee from contracting a third party to 
install cash dispensers (ATMs) on their premises, which may accept both credit and 
debit cards. Such an arrangement is subject to requirements that the premises 
licence holder has no other commercial connection in relation to gambling with the 
provider of the ATMs (aside from the agreement to site the machines), does not profit 
from the arrangement, and does not make any payment in connection with the 
machines. All premises licences also include a mandatory condition which requires 
that any ATM made available for use on the premises must be located in a place that 
requires any customer who wishes to use it to cease gambling in order to do so… 
This part of the Guidance deals only with the issue of credit in the context of section 
177. The provision of credit by gambling operators and the use of credit cards are 
separate matters that are managed through operating licence conditions and codes 
of practice issued by the Commission.” 
 
(xv) Bingo 
 
The Guidance states: “Licensing authorities will need to satisfy themselves that bingo 
can be played in any bingo premises for which they issue a premises licence.  This 
will be a relevant consideration where the operator of an existing bingo premises 
applies to vary their licence to exclude an area of the existing premises from its ambit 
and then applies for a new premises licence, or multiple licences, for that or those 
excluded areas. 
 
 
 

Page 37



28 
 

(xvi) Temporary Use Notices 
 
There are a number of statutory limits as regards Temporary Use Notices.  It is noted 
that it falls to the licensing authority to decide what constitutes a ‘set of premises’ 
where Temporary Use Notices are received relating to the same building / site (see 
Gambling Commission’s Guidance for Local Authorities). 
 
(xvii) Occasional Use Notices: 
 
The licensing authority has very little discretion as regards these notices aside from 
ensuring that the statutory limit of 8 days in a calendar year (always starting 1 
January) is not exceeded.  The licensing authority will though need to consider the 
definition of a ‘track’, with reference to section 353(1) of the Act and to part 20 of the 
Guidance, and whether the applicant is permitted to avail him/herself of the notice.   
 
“The Commission is aware of some instances of the apparent misuse of OUNs, by 
the arrangement of a contrived sporting event at a premises solely in order to apply 
for an OUN and to permit betting on premises where it would not normally be 
allowed,” and, “are keeping the situation under review.” 
 
(xviii) Travelling Fairs: 
 
It will fall to this licensing authority to decide whether, where category D machines 
without a permit are to be made available for use at travelling fairs, the statutory 
requirement that the facilities for gambling amount to no more than an ancillary 
amusement at the fair is met. 
 
The licensing authority will also consider whether the applicant falls within the 
statutory definition of a travelling fair with due regard to section 286 of the Act and 
part 30 of the Guidance. 
 
It has been noted that the 27-day statutory maximum for the land being used as a 
fair, is per calendar year, and that it applies to the piece of land on which the fairs are 
held, regardless of whether it is the same or different travelling fairs occupying the 
land.  This licensing authority will work with its neighbouring authorities to ensure that 
land which crosses shared boundaries is monitored so that the statutory limits are not 
exceeded. 
 
(xix) Betting premises 
 
Betting machines –The  Guidance states: “Section 181 contains an express power 
for licensing authorities to restrict the number of betting machines, their nature and 
the circumstances in which they are made available by attaching a licence condition 
to a betting premises licence or to a casino premises licence (where betting is 
permitted in the casino).  When considering whether to impose a condition to restrict 
the number of betting machines in particular premises, the licensing authority, 
amongst other things, should take into account the size of the premises, the number 
of counter positions available for person-to-person transactions, and the ability of 
staff to monitor the use of the machines by vulnerable people.”  
 
Information exchange 
 
The Guidance states,  
 

Page 38



29 
 

· “As applicants for premises licences (except occupiers of tracks who do not 
propose to offer gambling themselves) will have to hold an operating licence from 
the Commission before the premises licence can be issued, licensing authorities 
will not need to investigate the suitability of the applicant.  If during the course of 
considering a premises licence application, or at any other time, the licensing 
authority receives information that causes it to question the suitability of the 
applicant to hold an operating licence, these concerns should be brought to the 
attention of the Commission without delay” “Regulatory issues arising from the 
prevention of disorder are likely to focus almost exclusively on premises 
licensing, rather than on operating licences.  (Although if there are persistent or 
serious disorder problems that an operator could or should do more to prevent, 
the licensing authority should bring this to the attention of the Commission so that 
it can consider the continuing suitability of the operator to hold an operating 
licence.)”“If it comes to the attention of licensing authorities that Alcohol-licensed 
premises or clubs or institutes are playing bingo during the course of a week 
which involves significant stakes and prizes, that makes it possible that the 
£2,000 in seven days is being exceeded, authorities should inform the 
Commission.  To help clubs and institutes to comply with the full range of 
statutory requirements for gaming the Commission has developed a statutory 
code of practice. The Code of Practice for gaming in clubs and premises with an 
alcohol licence is available on the Commission website. 

 
 
 

Page 39



30 
 

Appendix 3 
Responsible Authorities Contact details: 
 
Licensing Authority 
Regulatory Services 
Gravesham Borough Council 
Civic Centre 
Windmill Street 
Gravesend 
Kent 
DA12 1AU 
www.gravesham.gov.uk 
licensing.changes@gravesham.gov.uk 
Tel: 01474 33 76 51 
 
Gambling Commission 
Victoria Square House 
Victoria Square 
Birmingham 
B2 4BP 
www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk 
info@gamblingcommission.gov.ukTel: 0121 
230 6500 
 
Police Licensing (o/b/o Chief Officer of Police) 
Medway Police Station 
Purser Way 
Gillingham 
Kent  
ME7 1NE 
licensing.north.division@kent.pnn.police.uk 
Telephone 01634 79 27 33 
 
Dartford Fire Safety Office 
Dartford Fire Station 
Watling Street 
Dartford 
Kent 
DA2 6EG 
www.kent.fire-uk.org 
tfswestgroup@kent.fire-uk.org 
Tel: 01322 22 42 29 
 
Gravesham Borough Council 
Planning and Regeneration Services 
Civic Centre 
Windmill Street 
Gravesend 
Kent 
DA12 1AU 
www.gravesham.gov.uk 
planning.admin@gravesham.gov.uk  
Tel: 01474 33 73 91 

Gravesham Borough Council 
Environmental Protection 
Regulatory Services 
Gravesham Borough Council 
Civic Centre 
Windmill Street 
Gravesend 
Kent 
DA12 1AU 
www.gravesham.gov.uk 
health.admin@gravesham.gov.uk 
01474 33 73 34 
 
For premises where H&S is enforced by GBC e.g. 
shops, pubs, clubs, etc 
Gravesham Borough Council 
Commercial Section (Health & Safety) 
Regulatory Services 
Civic Centre 
Windmill Street 
Gravesend 
Kent 
DA12 1AU 
www.gravesham.gov.uk 
health.admin@gravesham.gov.uk 
01474 33 73 34 
 
Integrated Family Services Manager 
Specialist Children’s Services 
Kent County Council 
Joynes House 
New Road 
Gravesend 
Kent, DA11 0AT 
Rodica.Cobarzan@kent.gov.uk 
Office : 03000 411515 
 
HM Revenue & Customs  
Nation Registration Unit 
Betting & Gaming 
Portcullis House 
21 India Street 
Glasgow 
G2 4PZ 
NRUBetting&Gaming@HMRC.gsi.gov.uk 
Tel: 03000 51 60 23 
 
 

 
 

Page 40



31 
 

Appendix 4 
List of Consultees 

 
· All Ward Councillors 
· Parish Councils 
· All bodies designated under s.157 of the Act as Responsible Authorities (as 

shown in Appendix 3 of the Policy) 
· Kent County Council Trading Standards 
· Association of British Bookmakers 
· National Casino Forum 
· British Amusement Catering Trade Association 
· Bingo Association 
· The British Horseracing Authority Limited 
· The Greyhound Board of Great Britain 
· Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group 
· The Grand 
· Gravesham Street Pastors 
· Gravesham Safe and Free Environment (G-SAFE) 
· Citizen Advice Bureaux 
· British Beer and Pub Association 
· British Institute of Innkeeping 
· Federation of Licensed Victuallers Associations (FLVA) 
· GamCare 
· Responsible Gambling Trust 
· Gamblers Anonymous UK 
· Gordon Moody Association 
· Samaritans 
· William Hill 
· K Johnson 
· B Smith 
· Gala Coral Group Ltd 
· Ladbrokes 
· Paddy Power 
· Pridmore 
· Betfred 
· Luxury Leisure 
· A R Douglas 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 41



32 
 

Appendix 5 
 

 Machine category 
Premises Type A B1 B2 B3 B4 C D 

Regional casino 
(table/machine ratio of 
25-1 up to maximum) 

Maximum of 1250 machines  
Any combination of machines in categories A to D within the total limit of 

1250 (subject to table ratio) 
Large casino 
(table/machine ratio of 5-
1 up to maximum) 

 Maximum of 150 machines Any combination of machines in 
categories B to D (except B3A machines), within the total limit of 
150 (subject to machine/table ratio) 

Small casino 
(table/machine ratio of 2-
1 up to maximum) 

Maximum of 80 machines Any combination of machines in 
categories B to D (except B3A machines), within the total limit of 
80 (subject to machine/table ratio) 

Pre-2005 Act casinos (no 
table/machine ratio) 

Maximum of 20 machines categories B to D (except B3A 
machines), or any number of C or D machines instead 

Betting premises and 
tracks occupied by Pool 
Betting 

 Maximum of 4 machines categories B2 to D (except 
B3A machines) 

Bingo Premises  Maximum of 20% 
of the total 
number of 
gaming machines 
which 
are available for 
use on the 
premises 
categories B3 or 

B4** 

No limit on 
C or D  

machines 

Adult gaming centre Maximum of 20% 
of the total 
number of 
gaming 
machines which 
are available for 
use on the 
premises 
categories B3 or 

B4** 

No limit on 
C or D 

machines 

Family entertainment 
centre (with premises 
licence) 

  No limit on Category C or 
D machines 

 
Family entertainment 
centre (with permit) 

 No limit on 
Category D 
machines 

Clubs or miners’ welfare 
institutes with permits 

Maximum of 3 machines in 
categories B3A or B4 to D* 

 
Qualifying alcohol 
licensed premises 

 1 or 2 machines of 
cat C or D automatic 
upon notification 

Qualifying alcohol 
licensed premises with 
gaming machine permit 

 
Number of category C-D 
machines as specified 

on permit 
 
Travelling fair 

 No limit on 
Category D 
machines 

Page 42



33 
 

* It should be noted that members’ clubs and miners’ welfare institutes are entitled to 
site a total of three machines in categories B3A to D but only one B3A machine can 
be sited as part of this entitlement. Commercial clubs are entitled to a total of three 
machines in categories B4 to D. 
** Adult gaming centre and bingo premises are entitled to make available a number 
of Category B gaming machines not exceeding 20% of the total number of gaming 
machines which are available for use on the premises. Premises in existence before 
13 July 2011 are entitled to make available four (adult gaming centre premises) or 
eight (bingo premises) category B gaming machines, or 20% of the total number of 
gaming machines, whichever is the greater. Adult gaming centre premises and bingo 
premises licences granted on or after 13 July 2011 but before 1 April 2014 are 
entitled to a maximum of four or eight category B gaming machines or 20% of the 
total number of gaming machines, whichever is the greater; from 1 April 2014 these 
premises will be entitled to 20% of the total number of gaming machines only. But not 
B3A machines. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 43



34 
 

Appendix 6 
 
 

 
Delegations 

Matter to be dealt with Full Council Sub-committee of 
licensing committee 

Officers 
 
 

Final approval of three 
year licensing policy X   

Policy not to permit 
casinos X   

Fee setting (where 
appropriate)   Delegated to officers 

 

Application for premises 
licences  

Where representations 
have been received 
and not withdrawn 

Where no representations 
received/representations 

have been withdrawn 
 

Application for a 
variation to a licence  

Where representations 
have been received 
and not withdrawn 

Where no representations 
received/representations 

have been withdrawn 

Application for a 
transfer of a licence  

Where representations 
have been received 
and not withdrawn 

Where no representations 
received/representations 

have been withdrawn 

Application for a 
provisional statement  

Where representations 
have been received 
and not withdrawn 

Where no representations 
received/representations 

have been withdrawn 
Review of a premises 

licence  X  

Application for club 
gaming/club machine 

permits 
 

Where objections have 
been made (and not 

withdrawn) 

Where no objections have 
been made/objections 
have been withdrawn 

Cancellation of club 
gaming/club machine 

permits 
 X  

Applications for other 
permits  

Where there are 5 or 
more machines or 

where objections have 
been made (and not 

withdrawn) 

4 machines or less 

Cancellation of licensed 
premises gaming 
machine permits 

  X 

Consideration of 
temporary use notice   X 

Decisions to give a 
counter notice to a 

temporary use notice 
 X  

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 44



35 
 

Appendix 7 
 
Summary of Maximum stake and Maximum prize by category of gaming 
machine 
 
Machine category Maximum stake (from 

January 2014) 
Maximum prize (from 
January 2014) 

A Unlimited Unlimited 

B1 £5 

£10,000 (with the option of 
a maximum £20,000 linked 
progressive jackpot on a 
premises basis only) 

B2 £100 £500 

B3 £2 £500 

B3A £2 £500 

B4 £2 £400 

C £1 £100 

D money prize 10p £5 

D non-money prize (other 
than crane grab machine) 30p £8 

D non-money prize (crane 
grab machine) £1 £50 

D combined money and 
non-money prize (other 
than coin pusher or penny 
falls machines) 

10p £8 (of which no more than 
£5 may be a money prize) 

D combined money and 
non-money prize (coin 
pusher or penny falls 
machine) 

20p £20 (of which no more than 
£10 may be a money prize) 

 
   

   
   

Page 45



36 
 

Appendix 8 
 
Glossary of terms 
 
Adult Gaming Centre 
– AGC’s 

Adult gaming centres (AGC’s) are a new category of 
premises introduced by the Act.   Persons operating an 
AGC must hold a gaming machines general operating 
licence from the Commission and must seek a Premises 
licence from the Council. Category B, C and D machines 
can be made available to customers. 
 

Alcohol Licensed 
Premises gaming 
machine permits 

The Council can issue such permits for any number of 
category C or D machines in licensed premises.  There is 
an automatic entitlement for alcohol on-licence holders to 
make available 2 gaming machines of category C or D for 
use in alcohol licensed premises. 
 

Applications Applications for licenses and permits. 
 

Authorisations This policy relates to all authorisations, permits, licences 
etc, which the Council is responsible for under the Gambling 
Act 2005. 
 

Betting machines A machine designed or adapted for the use to bet on future 
real events (not gaming machines). 
 

Bingo A game of equal chance.  Bingo has no statutory definition.  
It is to have its ordinary and natural meaning.  Under the 
previous legislation, two types of bingo could be offered: 
 

· cash bingo, where the stakes paid made up the cash 
prizes that were won; or 

· prize bingo, where various forms of prizes were won, 
not directly related to the stakes paid. 

 
Traditionally, cash bingo was the main type of bingo played 
in commercial bingo halls.  They could also offer prize 
bingo, largely as interval games.  Under the 2005 Act, the 
distinction between these two version of the game was 
abolished for commercial operators, and the holder of a 
bingo operating licence can offer any type of bingo game, 
whether cash or prize.  Apart from commercial bingo halls, 
prize bingo is traditionally a game played in arcades, 
especially seaside amusement arcades or travelling 
funfairs.  For these operators, prize bingo has been 
subsumed within the allowances for prize gaming in the act.  
This means that adult gaming centres, both licensed and 
unlicensed family entertainment centres, and travelling fairs, 
(or any premises with a prize gaming permit) will be able to 
offer prize gaming, which includes prize bingo. 
 
In this form of gaming, the nature of the prize must not be 
determined by reference to the number of people playing 
the game, and the nature or the size of the prize must not 

Page 46



37 
 

be determined by reference to the amount paid for or raised 
by gaming 
 

Casino An arrangement whereby people are given an opportunity to 
participate in one or more casino games. 
 

Children Individual who is less than 16 years old 
 

Club Gaming Permit Club  gaming permits allow members; clubs and miners’ 
welfare institutes (but not a commercial club) to provide to 
provide gaming machines (3 machines of Category B, C or 
D), equal chance gaming and games of chance. 
 

Club Gaming Machine 
Permit 

These permits allow the holder to have up to 3 gaming 
machines of category B, C or D. 
 

Code of Practice Means any relevant code of practice under section24 of the 
Gambling Act 2005. 
 

Default Conditions Conditions that will apply unless the Council decide to 
exclude them.  This may apply to all Premises Licences, to 
a class of Premises Licence or licences for specified 
circumstances. 
 

Disorder Disorder is intended to mean activity that is more serious 
and disruptive than mere nuisance. 
 

Equal Chance Gaming Games that do not involve playing or staking against a bank 
and where the chances are equally favourable to all 
participants. 
 

Family Entertainment 
Centres – FEC’s  

Family Entertainment Centre, licensed or unlicensed but 
operating with a permit may provided any number of gaming 
machines of category C or D. 
 

Occasional Use 
Notices 

Where there is betting on a track on up to eight days in a 
calendar year, betting may be permitted by an Occasional 
Use Notice without the need for a Premises licence.  A track 
includes a horse race course, dog track and temporary 
tracks for races or sporting events. 
 

Operating Licence Authorises individuals or companies to provide facilities for 
certain types of remote or non-remote gambling.  These 
licences are issued by the Gambling Commission and 
generally cover the principle commercial forms of gambling 
operating.  A single licence cannot authorise remote and 
non- remote activities; separate operating licences are need 
for this.  Conditions may be attached. 
 

Personal licences Except for small scale operations, for each operating 
licence, at least one person who holds a specified 
management office must hold a personal licence.  These 
licences are issued by the Gambling Commission with the 
aim of ensuring that individuals who control facilities for 
gambling or are able to influence the outcome of gambling 

Page 47



38 
 

are suitable to carry out those functions.  These licences are 
not transferable and cannot be held by companies but 
companies are likely to want their key staff to hold a 
personal licence. 
 

Premises “Premises” is defined in the Act as “any place”.  Different 
premises licences cannot apply in respect of a single 
premise at different times.  However, it is possible for a 
single building to be subject to more than one premises 
licence, provided they are for different parts of the building 
and the different parts of the building can be reasonably 
regarded as being different premises.  Whether different 
parts of a building can properly be regarded as separate 
premises will always be a question of fact in the 
circumstances.  However, the Council would have to 
consider very carefully whether areas of a building that are 
artificially or temporarily separate can properly be regarded 
as different premises. 
 

Premises Licence Authorises the provision of facilities for gambling on 
premises for casinos, bingo, betting (including tracks), adult 
gaming centres and family entertainment centres. The 
Premises licence will include details of conditions.  These 
licences are issued by the Council, are valid for the life of 
the premises, subject to any reviews that may be triggered 
and can lapse in certain circumstances, with no annual 
renewal required, although there is an annual fee.  These 
licences are transferable to someone else hold a valid 
operating licence. 
 

Prize Gaming Permits 
and prize gaming 

This permit allows the provision of facilities for gaming and 
prizes on specified premises. “Prize gaming” refers to 
gaming where the nature and size of the prize is not 
determined by the numbers of people playing or the amount 
paid for or raised by the gaming.  The prizes will be 
determines by the operators before the play commences. 
 

Temporary Use 
Notices 

These licences authorise the person or company holding a 
relevant operating licence to use the premises temporarily 
for providing facilities for gambling where there is no 
premises licence.  Such premises could include hotels, 
conference centres and sporting venues. 
 

Unlicensed Family 
Entertainment Centre 
Gaming Machine 
Permit 

These allow the use of an unlimited number of category D 
gaming machines in these premises to a person who 
occupies or plans to occupy the premises to be used as an 
unlicensed family entertainment centre.  An application for 
this permit cannot be made where a premises licence is in 
effect on the same premises. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 48



39 
 

GAMCARE 
 
GamCare is the leading provider of information, advice, support and free counselling 
for the prevention and treatment of problem gambling. They operate the National 
Gambling Helpline, provide treatment for problem gamblers and their families, create 
awareness about responsible gambling and treatment, and encourage an effective 
approach to responsible gambling within the gambling industry. 
 
GamCare can be contacted on their Freephone Helpline 0808 8020 133 between 
8am and midnight, 7 days a week.  
 
For online support, please visit http://www.gamcare.org.uk/ 

Page 49



Page 50

This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

Appendix 3 
 

Respondent Paragraph Comments Appraisal Response 
 

Local Planning 
Authority (LPA) 

Page 19 No objection; the section on 
Planning (page 19) correctly says 
that licensing and planning are 
independent. 

Confirmation of the accuracy of this 
statement from the LPA is appreciated. 

No changes to the draft Policy 
are required. 

Novomatic UK 
on behalf of 
Luxury Leisure 
 

 Comment 1:    
 
Section 7 – we note that the Draft 
lists matters that it says the 
Authority can take into account 
should it decide to prepare a local 
area profile. These are also 
matters it suggests that operators 
should take into account when 
preparing their risk assessments 
relating to specific premises. 
However, we are uncertain as to 
why the density of different types 
of gambling and the specific 
types of gambling in the area is 
relevant for these purposes. As 
the Draft appreciates, demand is 
not an issue that is relevant or 
can be taken onto account in 
relation to premises licence 
applications. Further, we do not 
understand which of the licensing 
objectives is intended to be 
engaged by the location of 
religious buildings. Accordingly, 
we suggest that these items be 
removed from the bullet points at 
Section 7 of the Draft. 

Both points are gratefully received and 
considered to be valid. 
 
With regard to Comment 1, the respondent 
is correct that the expected demand for 
facilities cannot be a factor in relation to 
the determination of premises licence 
applications.   
 
It is however arguable that the location of 
religious buildings is relevant as such 
buildings are often used for other 
community or social events/gatherings for 
children and vulnerable people, which 
could increase the risk of harm or 
exploitation, against the 3rd licensing 
objective. 
 
At the time of writing the Draft Policy, no 
statutory guidance was available in 
relation to what data could/should be 
included within local area profiles. 
 
The list given within section 7 of the Draft 
Policy was therefore extracted directly 
from page 16 of the Local Government 
Associations’ Gambling Regulation  
Councillor handbook (England and Wales) 

The following recommendations 
are made: 
 
1) That the wording and list 
contained within section 7 of 
the Draft Policy (from ‘It 
should be noted’ to ‘when 
carrying out their risk 
assessments’) be removed so 
as to avoid any deviation from 
the statutory guidance and to 
retain full flexibility should a 
local area profile be prepared 
at a later stage. 

 
2) That the text contained within 
section 13 (Enforcement) of 
the Draft Policy on pages 10 
and 11 be replaced with the 
text contained within 
Appendix 4 of this Report in 
order to clarify the council’s 
enforcement principles and, 
importantly, that it follows the 
principles of better regulation 
set out in the Regulators’ 
Code. 

P
age 51



2 
 

 
Comment 2:   
 
As the Authority will appreciate, it 
is subject to the Regulators’ Code 
in such matters and we suggest 
that reference to that fact would 
be useful in the Draft. 

on Gambling Regulation, published in 
June 2015. 
 
The, subsequently published, 5th 
Guidance to Licensing Authorities, does 
not explicitly state what factors or types of 
premises, etc. should be included in a 
local area profile. 
 
With regard to Comment 2, it is agreed 
that clear reference to the Regulators’ 
Code is lacking in the Draft Policy and 
should be included.   

Member of the 
public 
 

 “With the prevalence of addictions 
in our society and Gravesham 
has its fair share, the less 
gambling places of any sort can 
only make for a healthier 
environment to live in. Access to 
these type of premises only 
enables those tempted.” 

The respondents’ comments are 
welcomed and appreciated.   
 
The concerns are valid; however these 
areas of concern are already considered 
to be adequately addressed.  

No changes to the draft Policy 
are required. 

Poppleston 
Allen Solicitors 
on behalf of 
Power Leisure 
Bookmakers 
Limited (Paddy 
Power) 

 Power Leisure Bookmakers 
Limited response to Gravesham 
Borough Council’s Consultation 
on its draft Statement of 
Gambling Policy is shown in full at 
the foot of this table. 

Power Leisure Bookmakers Limited’s 
comprehensive response is gratefully 
received. 
 
Their response stresses the need for local 
authorities to avoid unnecessarily 
increasing the burden on businesses; 
making reference to the Regulators’ Code, 
existing requirements on Operators in 
relation to carrying out risk assessments, 
and local area profiling. 

The views expressed by Power 
Leisure Bookmakers Limited 
broadly mirror those already 
made by Novomatic UK on 
behalf of Luxury Leisure. 
 
It is considered that the 
proposed Policy amendments 
outlined above, in response to 
Luxury Leisure’s representation, 
would adequately address the 
concerns raised by Power 
Leisure Bookmakers Limited. 

 

P
age 52



3 
 

Paddy Power is Ireland’s biggest Bookmaker and operates both a retail business through licensed betting offices and an online/telephone 
business. Paddy Power operates 251 licensed betting offices in Ireland and 325 betting offices in the United Kingdom.  
 
Paddy Power is a leading national operator of betting premises with clear and proactive policies to promote the Gambling Licensing Objectives. 
Operators of premises licences have full authority to provide their services by the provision of an Operators’ Licence granted by the Gambling 
Commission. The UK’s gambling regulator has therefore approved the measures implemented by operators to ensure that effective anti-money 
laundering procedures are implemented and that policies have been developed that ensure responsible trading in accordance with gambling 
legislation, the licensing objectives and the Licence Conditions and Codes of Practice. Of particular relevance are the obligations and 
requirements now placed upon operators under the social responsibility provisions of the LCCP, which were introduced by the Gambling 
Commission earlier this year.  
 
We refer the authority to the Regulators’ Code, which was introduced by the Legislative and Regulatory Reform Act 2006 and provides the 
code to which the Authority must have regard. Specifically, regulators should avoid imposing unnecessary burdens and choose proportionate 
approaches to those they regulate and have mechanisms in place for consultation. The Code provides that before any changes in policy are 
implemented the effect that any proposed amendments may have on businesses should be considered and stakeholders should be engaged. 
  
Location, local area profile and risk assessment  
 
The Council is aware that under new Gambling Commission LCCP provisions, from April 2016 operators will be required to complete local area 
risk assessments that identify risks posed to the licensing objectives and how these should be mitigated. We refer the Authority to the 
Regulators’ Code, which provides that in making an assessment of risk, regulators should recognise the compliance record of those they 
regulate and take an evidenced based approach to determining the priority risks in their area of responsibility.  
 
Should the Licensing Authority contemplate introducing a detailed local area profile regarding the location of specific gambling premises 
(section 7), thorough details should be provided for consultation with stakeholders at that time. Such consultation would permit the thorough 
assessment of the validity of any potential local area profiling that may be completed. Any evidence gathered should directly correlate with 
actual risks identified in those locations and appropriate assessment completed of any detrimental impact that any proposed gaming provision 
may have.  
 
To ensure that better regulation principles are followed, operators should be allowed to assess their existing operational processes, informed by 
Statements of Principle, which highlight potential areas of particular sensitivity and known vulnerability. High risk areas must only be identified 
where empirical evidence is adduced that clear gambling related harm would be caused by the presence of gambling related premises. 
Identification of theoretical risk factors such as area demographics, ethnicity, proximity to other premises and deprivation should only be 
included where local evidence is available, which quantifies the ascertainable risk to be mitigated. Any proposed measures to address risks 
identified should be proportionate, effective and tailored to specific concerns identified. All risks must be substantiated in order to prevent the 
implementation of a disproportionate regulatory burden upon operators.  

P
age 53



4 
 

Where variations are made to existing permissions, additional measures should only be considered where empirical evidence suggests there is 
an actual risk to the promotion of the licensing objectives and that existing approved measures are insufficient to address those concerns. It 
may not be proportional for applicants or existing licence holders to actively engage in investigations for unique localised risk factors where 
problems, which may be associated with gambling premises are not realised. Operators are under existing obligations to regularly review their 
policies and procedures incorporating risk assessment at a local premises level and, as such, it may not be appropriate for the Authority to 
prescribe the nature of such assessment as internal processes should already be responsive to evidence of changes in local operational risk 
profiles.  
 
The Authority must consider the extensive policies, already implemented by operators, in accordance with the Gambling Commission’s LCCP. 
Without evidence to suggest that such policies are insufficient to address concerns within local areas, a repeat analysis of standardised 
procedures within new applications will not be proportionate or necessary, as this would duplicate the requirements under operating licence 
provisions. For example, whilst obligations with regard to advertising practice, self-exclusion, age verification, training and the provision of 
appropriate information are not conditions under sections 167 and 168 of the Gambling Act 2005, they are imposed as code provisions under 
the Licensing Conditions and Codes of Practice.  
 
Well managed and controlled premises, compliant with the Gambling Commission’s LCCP, do not pose a gambling related risk to children and 
young people and additional measures, controls or conditions considered should not be imposed to address wider social issues. Any reference 
to vulnerability should specifically address evidence based risks of gambling related harm caused to individuals and populations identified. Any 
additional proposed measures to mitigate those risks will only be appropriate where they cannot be addressed by operators’ existing measures 
and compliance with governing legislation.  
 
Where operators are asked to mitigate any perceived risks, sufficient parameters should be identified addressing the specific risks concerned 
relative to those individuals who may be at risk from the grant of any proposed application.  
 
Primary Authority  
 
Power Leisure Bookmakers Limited has established a Primary Authority Partnership with Reading Council. The primary authority worked with 
the Gambling Commission to develop a national inspection strategy to be implemented to help protect underage people from gambling. The 
Association of British Bookmakers (ABB, the trade association for the betting industry) and BACTA (the trade association for the amusement 
and gaming machine industry) have both signed a coordinated partnership Primary Authority (PA) agreement with Reading Borough Council for 
age restricted sales of gambling. Such schemes enable a consistent approach to regulation and enforcement and provide a uniform standard.  
 
Conclusion  
 
We are committed to working in partnership with the Gambling Commission and local authorities to continue to promote best practice and 
compliance in support of the licensing objectives. 

P
age 54



Appendix 4 

13. Enforcement  

Licensing authorities are required by regulation under the Gambling Act 2005 to state the 
principles to be applied by the authority in exercising the functions under Part 15 of the Act 
with respect to the inspection of premises; and the powers under section 346 of the Act to 
institute criminal proceedings in respect of the offences specified.  
 
The Kent & Medway Licensing Steering Group has formulated a Compliance and 
Enforcement Protocol which each Licensing Authority and Responsible Authority has 
agreed. The purpose of this protocol is to facilitate co-operation and co-ordination between 
enforcement agencies in pursuance of both the Gambling Act 2005 and the Licensing Act 
2003. It will underpin the mutual operational support required to tackle licensing issues.  
 
This licensing authority’s principles are that it will: 
 

• Act in accordance with the relevant legislation and guidance from the Gambling 
Commission; 

• Have due regard to the Kent & Medway Licensing Steering Group’s ‘Compliance and 
Enforcement Protocol’ 

• Adopt the principles of better regulation set out in the Regulators’ Code, and; 
• Endeavour to avoid duplication with other regulatory regimes so far as possible 

 
In doing so, this authority will endeavour to be: 
 

• Proportionate: regulators should only intervene when necessary: remedies should 
be appropriate to the risk posed, and costs identified and minimised;  

• Accountable: regulators must be able to justify decisions, and be subject to public 
scrutiny;  

• Consistent: rules and standards must be joined up and implemented fairly;  
• Transparent: regulators should be open, and keep regulations simple and user 

friendly; and  
• Targeted: regulation should be focused on the problem, and minimise side effects  

 
Additionally, this authority recognises the importance of not placing unnecessary regulatory 
burdens upon businesses and will aim to carry out its regulatory activities in a way that supports 
compliance and growth. 
 
This licensing authority has adopted and implemented a risk-based inspection programme, 
based on;  
 

• The licensing objectives  
• Relevant Codes of Practice  
• Guidance issued by the Gambling Commission, in particular Part 36  
• The principles set out in this statement of licensing policy  

 
The main enforcement and compliance role for this licensing authority in terms of the 
Gambling Act 2005 will be to ensure compliance with the Premises Licences and other 
permissions which is authorises.  
 
The Gambling Commission will be the enforcement body for the Operator and Personal 
Licences.  
 
It is also worth noting that concerns about manufacture, supply or repair of gaming 
machines are not dealt with by the Licensing Authority but should be notified to the 
Gambling Commission.   The Gambling Commission will also be responsible for 
compliance regarding unlicensed premises. 

Page 55



Page 56

This page is intentionally left blank



 

Classification: Public 
Key Decision: No 

Gravesham Borough Council 

Report to: Licensing Committee 

Date: 26 November 2015 

Reporting officer: Sarah Kilkie, Assistant Director (Communities) 

Subject: Changes to the licensing requirements of late night 
refreshment under the Licensing Act 2003 
 

Purpose and summary of report:  

To update Members on the most recent legislative changes to the Licensing Act 2003 made 
by the Deregulation Act 2015, and the need to consider whether to exempt certain late night 
refreshment from the licensing regime. 

Recommendations: 

That Members note the content of the report and request that officers proceed with a more 
detailed examination of the options open to the Council as Licensing Authority and bring a 
further report to the meeting of the Licensing Committee on 7 March 2016. 
 
1. Background 

1.1 Late Night Refreshment (LNR) is a licensable activity under the provisions of the 
Licensing Act 2003 (LA03) and therefore requires a premises licence, which is 
subject to an annual retainer fee. Fees for new premises licences and for annual 
retainer are based on the rateable value of the premises and set by statute.   

1.2 The provision of LNR is regulated primarily because it is often linked to alcohol 
fuelled crime and disorder in the night-time economy, such as fast food takeaways 
where late night drinkers may congregate. In Gravesham this type of problem has 
been of concern to the council, police and the public. This has resulted in some of 
these premises being required, by condition, to have door supervisors, incident 
books and/or CCTV in place. 

1.3 Schedule 2 to the Licensing Act 2003 contains the framework for the regulation of 
the provision of late night refreshment.  LNR is defined as the supply of hot food or 
hot drink on or from premises to members of the public between 11pm and 5am 
for consumption on or off the premises. 

1.4 There are a number of exemptions, namely the supply of: 

1.4.1 Hot drinks from self-serve vending machines; 

Agenda Item 7Page 57



2 

1.4.2 Hot drinks containing alcohol (as this falls within the definition of another 
licensable activity; the sale or supply of alcohol); 

1.4.3 Free hot food or hot drinks (there must be no charge for admission or other 
associated services or item); 

1.4.4 Hot food or hot drinks on moving vehicles (for example boats, trains or 
coaches); 

1.4.5 Hot food or hot drink to: 

1.4.5.1 a person who is engaged in a particular profession or who follows 
a particular vocation (for example, a tradesman carrying out work 
at particular premises);  

1.4.5.2 a member of a recognised club supplied by the club;  

1.4.5.3 persons staying overnight in a hotel, guest house, lodging house, 
hostel, a caravan or camping site or any other premises whose 
main purpose is providing overnight accommodation;  

1.4.5.4 an employee of a particular employer (for example in a staff 
canteen);  

1.4.5.5 a guest of any of the above. 

2. Deregulation Act 2015 

2.1 The Deregulation Act 2015 (“the Act”) received Royal Assent on 26 March 2015 
and provides for the removal or reduction of burdens on businesses, civil society, 
individuals, public sector bodies and the taxpayer.  

2.2 The Act also provides for a duty on those exercising specified regulatory functions 
to have regard to the desirability of promoting economic growth.  Members are 
however also reminded of the statutory duty to promote the four licensing 
objectives 

2.3 Section 71 of the Act came into force on 1 October and amends Schedule 2 of 
LA03 to confer powers on a licensing authority to exempt a supply of hot food or 
hot drink from the requirements in Schedule 2 in three respects.  These being if 
the supply of hot food or hot drink takes place: 

2.3.1 on or from premises situated in an area in the relevant licensing authority’s 
area designated by the authority; 

2.3.2 on or from premises in a relevant licensing authority’s area of a description 
designated by the authority; 

2.3.3 during a period (beginning on or after 11pm and ending on or before 5am) 
designated by the relevant licensing authority in its area. 

2.4 In other words, licensing authorities have a discretionary power to exempt 
premises in a designated area, of a particular type, and/or during a period 
between 11pm and 5am. 

Page 58



3 

2.5 Licensing authorities do not have to use the exemptions at all and can continue to 
require all late night refreshment providers to be licensed. Any deregulation must 
only be where deemed appropriate on a risk assessed basis, and bearing in mind 
the four licensing objectives. 

2.6 If choosing to designate a particular area as exempt, the relevant licensing 
authority must define the location, which can be of any size. 

2.7 If choosing to designate particular categories of premises as exempt, a licensing 
authority can only exempt types of premises set out in the regulations. These are: 

2.7.1 motorway service areas 

2.7.2 petrol stations 

2.7.3 local authority premises (except domestic premises) unless there is an 
event taking place at which more than 500 people are present 

2.7.4 schools (except domestic premises) unless there is an event taking place 
at which more than 500 people are present 

2.7.5 hospitals (except domestic premises) 

2.7.6 community premises (church, chapel, village, parish or community hall or 
other similar building) unless there is an event taking place at which more 
than 500 people are present 

2.7.7 licensed premises authorised to sell by retail alcohol for consumption on 
the premises between the hours of 11pm and 5am 

2.8 If choosing to exempt the provision of late night refreshment at particular times, 
the exemption, and any subsequent change to the time, will apply to the whole 
licensing authority area. 

2.9 Licensing authorities can make one or more of these designations to apply 
simultaneously, but not in conjunction with one another.  For example, it would be 
permitted to change the times across the licensing authority area during which 
licensing requirements will apply and also exempt premises by type across the 
whole licensing authority area.  However, it would not be permitted to change the 
times in one geographic area only. 

2.10 Existing late night refreshment licences for premises that become exempt would 
remain extant (unless surrendered); however there would be no requirement on 
the licence holders who are solely licenced for LNR to pay annual retainer fees. 
Also any conditions on a licence that relate solely to late night refreshment will 
have no effect during the period of exemption. 

3. The exemption process 

3.1 The decision to make an exemption is a licensing function that licensing 
authorities should include within their statement of licensing policy. It would 
therefore be subject to the statutory consultation process with at least the other 
responsible authorities and relevant parties as set out in section of the 2003 Act. 

Page 59



4 

3.2 When applying the exemptions the licensing authority must publicise the 
exemption to ensure that those who may affected benefit from it. 

3.3 Licensing authorities can then review exemptions at any time to time to change 
the times, locations or premises types.  However, the late night refreshment 
exemptions are not made on a case by case basis and there is no recourse to 
bring individual problematic premises back into the licensing regime. In such 
cases, the licensing authority would therefore have to take a decision about the 
entire exemption and apply it across the whole area, updating their statement of 
licensing policy accordingly. Alternatively, depending on the scale of a problem, 
other powers could be used such as those provided by the Anti-social Behaviour, 
Crime and Policing Act 2014 and Environmental Protection Act 1990. 

4. Premises licensed for Late Night Refreshment only in Gravesham 

4.1 There are 110 licenced premises in Gravesham whose licence includes LNR 
alongside other licensable activities, particularly supply of alcohol. If any of these 
premises were to benefit from an exemption, this would not affect the licensing 
income to the council. 

4.2 Nineteen premises are licensed purely for LNR, most of these being located within 
the town centre. A full list of these 19 premises, their location, closing times, and 
annual retainer fees are shown in the table below: 

Name Location Closing Time Fees 
Big Portion ^ # Pelham Road South 1am 

  
£180.00 

Catering Van outside The Grove ^ # The Grove 4.30am 
  

£70.00 
Charcoal Grill ^ Rochester Road 1am 

  
£180.00 

Dominos ^ West Street S-T Midnight F-S 1am 
 

£180.00 
Favourite Chicken &Perfect Pizza ^ King & Queen Street S-T 1am F-S 2am 

 
£180.00 

Flaming Grill ^ # London Road Midnight 
  

£180.00 
Happy Dragon Perry Street 1am 

  
£70.00 

Kent Charcoal Grill ^ # * Milton Road M-W 2am T-S 3am S 1am £180.00 
Kismet Kebab ^ * Milton Road M-T 2am F-S 4am S 1am £180.00 
McDonalds ^ # * New Road 5am 

  
£295.00 

New Life Empress Road M-T 23:30 F-S Midnight S 23:00 £70.00 
Perry Grill Perry Street 5am 

  
£70.00 

Pizza Go Go ^ * New Road S-T 1am F-S 3.30am 
 

£180.00 
Rainbow Pizza and Kebab ^ # * New Road 3.30am 

  
£180.00 

Sanchos ^ Milton Road S-T 1am F-S 2am 
 

£180.00 
Sapranos ^ # Parrock Street S-T 1am F-S 2am 

 
£180.00 

Shell Garage ^ Stonebridge Road 5am 
  

£295.00 
Star Grill ^ # Parrock Street 2am 

  
£180.00 

Valley Grill ^ Valley Drive Midnight 
  

£180.00 

    
TOTAL £3,210.00 

 

Key: 

^ These premises have a licence condition relating to the provision of CCTV  

Page 60



5 

# These premises have a licence condition requiring an incident book to be kept 
* These premises have a licence condition requiring door supervision 
 
The following figures can be ascertained from the above data: 

4.2.1 The majority of premises are located in the town centre area and closing 
times run from midnight to 5am. 

4.2.2 Members will note that with one exception, these are all takeaway food 
premises of the type that the LNR licensing regime was primarily aimed at. 
The key below the table indicates premises with conditions relating to the 
crime and disorder objective. All these 19 premises could, in theory, be 
deregulated if a suitable geographic area were to be designated; however 
this is unlikely to be in accordance with the promotion of the licensing 
objectives. 

4.2.3 Apart from one petrol station, none of the 19 premises fall within permitted 
categories of premises which can be deregulated.  

5. Initial Evaluation and Proposal 

5.1 It is considered unlikely that exemption of LNR premises by geographic area is a 
suitable path to pursue.  It appears to be a rather blunt instrument whereby, within 
an area, the historically more challenging types of LNR premises would also be 
deregulated alongside the less problematic types. Whilst the challenging premises 
types might not exist within the area at time of deregulation, they could start up in 
the area thereafter. Change in the nature of an area, could bring problems to 
previously unproblematic premises. Defining various small geographic areas to 
exempt rather than whole borough could also be very confusing for the trade and 
enforcers alike, and could lead to resentment between traders. 

5.2 It is considered that choosing to exempt particular times has similar difficulties. All 
premises operating between 11pm and 5am are part of the night-time economy, 
and operating when most people will have retired for the night. This of course 
includes traditional takeaways, which past experience tells us can undermine the 
licensing objectives if not carefully controlled. A rogue premises could just as 
easily be causing problems at 11pm as 5am and it would be very difficult to try to 
sensibly pick a timeslot to exempt. 

5.3 It is considered that exemption by premises type is the option most worthy of 
further consideration. This can be progressed by examining with partners, 
particularly the police, how each type has affected or has the potential to affect the 
licensing objectives within our area. Some categories of premises that are 
available for exemption already benefit from recent national deregulation 
regarding both supply of alcohol and entertainment. So loosening controls over 
LNR at these premises too would align with this. 

5.4 It is proposed that officers give further consideration, with partners, to the points 
raised in the initial evaluation and report back to the next Licensing Committee, 
bringing a consultation draft if recommending that an exemption be put in place. 

6. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

6.1 Home Office Guidance on the licensing of late night refreshment – available to 
view or download from:  

Page 61



6 

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/464
869/Guidance_on_the_licensing_of_late_night_refreshment.pdf 
 

6.2 Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be 
directed to Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary 
arrangements. 

 

Page 62



7 

IMPLICATIONS Appendix 1 

 

Legal  The Council must act in accordance with relevant legislation.  

The powers outlined in this report are entirely discretionary; licensing authorities do 
not have to use any of the exemptions at all and can continue to require all late 
night refreshment providers to be licensed.  

The Deregulation Act 2015 requires licensing authorities to consider deregulation 
where appropriate; however the Licensing Act 2003 requires licensing authorities to 
carry out its functions with a view to promoting the licensing objectives.  A balance 
must therefore be struck between the two statutory requirements. 

Any proposed exemptions would first require an amendment being made to the 
council’s Statement of Licensing Policy and would therefore be subject to a 
statutory consultation process. 

Any exemptions would apply to Temporary Events Notices as well as to Premises 
Licences 

The decision to grant exemptions can be delegated to Licensing Committee or an 
Officer. 

Finance and 
Value for 
Money  

Any consultation exercise in connection with an proposed exemption would be 
undertaken within existing budgets 

The maximum loss of licensing income would be if we exempted all LNR premises 
right across the borough. This would be £3,210pa. However we are not 
recommending this option and we would anticipate minimal income loss if any 
exemption were to be based on premises categories.   

If an exemption assisted premises in continuing to trade for a prolonged period of 
time, the council could however benefit from the longer-term collection of monies 
for business rates and trade waste collections, for example 

Risk 
Assessment 

There are four Licensing Objectives which underpin the licensing regime and which 
must be promoted: 

1. Prevention of crime and disorder 
2. Prevention of public nuisance 
3. Protection of public safety 
4. Protection of children from harm 

Statutory Guidance issued under s.182 of LA03 suggests that the key licensing 
objectives relating to the provision of LNR are 1 and 2 (the prevention of crime and 
disorder and the prevention of public nuisance, respectively).   

The Home Office have stated that: 

“The provision of late night refreshment is regulated primarily because it is often 
linked to alcohol-fuelled crime and disorder in the night-time economy, such as at 
fast-food takeaways where late-night drinkers congregate. However, these 
safeguards may not be needed everywhere or for every type of late night 

Page 63



8 

refreshment business. For example, some late-night cafés serving hot drinks after 
11pm may be located nowhere near pubs and nightclubs or areas associated with 
alcohol-related crime and disorder.”  

Any licence conditions relating solely to LNR would cease to apply for as long as an 
exemption is in place (all other licensing would remain unaffected).  Deregulating 
late night refreshment could therefore increase the risk of not promoting the 
licensing objectives so would require careful, evidence based consideration. 

The provision of LNR in premises who require a licence for other licensable 
activities, e.g. the sale or supply of alcohol, should not give rise to a need for 
significant other conditions as both licensing objectives should already be 
adequately covered by existing conditions. 

Colleagues in Environmental Health would no longer be able to benefit from 
knowledge obtained by the licensing team relating to deregulated premises, e.g. 
details of a change of ownership/management which could pose an increased 
public health risk associated with food safety and hygiene. 

As well as freeing up the businesses in question from costs, deregulation, when 
applied appropriately, can provide greater flexibility for licensing authorities to target 
their resources more effectively.  Time spent dealing with LNR premises is  
however fairly minimal 

Equality 
Impact 
Assessment 

Screening for Equality Impacts 

Question Answer Explanation 

  a. Does the decision 
being made or 
recommended through 
this paper have 
potential to cause 
adverse impact or 
discriminate against 
different groups in the 
community? 

No       

b. Does the decision 
being made or 
recommended through 
this paper make a 
positive contribution to 
promoting equality? 

No      

c. What steps are you 
taking to mitigate, 
reduce, avoid or 
minimise the impacts 
identified above? 

       

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above 

Page 64



 

Corporate 
Business 
Plan 

There are direct links to Corporate Objective 1 – Safer Gravesham 
 

Crime and 
Disorder 

Licensing regulation provides the Council with a means of reducing crime and 
disorder as well as an ability to protect vulnerable persons 

 

Page 65



Page 66

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	6 Review of Statement of Licensing Policy under the Gambling  Act 2005
	Appendix 2 - Gambling Policy 2016-2019 First Draft
	Appendix 3 - Consultation feedback form 2016-2019 v4
	Appendix 4 - Variation of wording to Section 13 on Enforcement

	7 Late Night Refreshment - Deregulation Options

